

splunk>

simply easy learning

www.tutorialspoint.com



https://www.facebook.com/tutorialspointindia



About the Tutorial

Splunk is a software used to search and analyze machine data. This machine data can come from web applications, sensors, devices or any data created by user. It serves the needs of IT infrastructure by analyzing the logs generated in various processes but it can also analyze any structured or semi-structured data with proper data modelling. It has built-in features to recognize the data types, field separators and optimize the search processes. It also provides data visualization on the search results.

Audience

This tutorial targets IT professionals, students, and IT infrastructure management professionals who want a solid grasp of essential Splunk concepts. After completing this tutorial, you will achieve intermediate expertise in Splunk, and easily build on your knowledge to solve more challenging problems.

Prerequisites

The reader should be familiar with querying language like SQL. General knowledge in typical operations in using computer applications like storing and retrieving data and reading the logs generated by computer programs will be an highly useful.

Copyright & Disclaimer

© Copyright 2019 by Tutorials Point (I) Pvt. Ltd.

All the content and graphics published in this e-book are the property of Tutorials Point (I) Pvt. Ltd. The user of this e-book is prohibited to reuse, retain, copy, distribute or republish any contents or a part of contents of this e-book in any manner without written consent of the publisher.

We strive to update the contents of our website and tutorials as timely and as precisely as possible, however, the contents may contain inaccuracies or errors. Tutorials Point (I) Pvt. Ltd. provides no guarantee regarding the accuracy, timeliness or completeness of our website or its contents including this tutorial. If you discover any errors on our website or in this tutorial, please notify us at contact@tutorialspoint.com



Table of Contents

	About the Tutorialii	i
	Audiencei	i
	Prerequisitesi	i
	Copyright & Disclaimeri	i
	Table of Contents ii	i
1.	Splunk – Overview1	L
	Product Categories1	_
	Splunk Features	L
2.	Splunk – Environment	;
	Linux Version	\$
	Windows Version6	;
3.	Splunk – Interface9	,
	Administrator Link9)
	Settings Link)
	Search and Reporting Link	L
4.	Splunk – Data Ingestion13	;
	Selecting Source Type14	ŀ
	Input Settings	,
	Review Settings	,
5.	Splunk – Source Types19	,
	Supported Source Types)
	Source Type Sub-Category20)
	Pre-Trained Source Types21	L
6.	Splunk – Basic Search	2
	Combining Search Terms	;
	Using Wild Card24	ŀ



	Refining Search Results	25
7.	Splunk – Field Searching	27
	Choosing the Fields	28
	Field Summary	29
	Using Fields in Search	30
8.	Splunk – Time Range Search	31
	Selecting a Time Subset	32
	Earliest and Latest	33
9.	Splunk – Sharing Exporting	35
	Sharing the Search Result	35
	Finding the Saved Results	36
	Exporting the Search Result	37
10.	Splunk – Search Language	39
	Components of SPL	39
11.	Splunk – Search Optimization	44
	Analysing Search Optimisations	44
	Turning Off Optimization	46
12.	Splunk – Transforming Commands	49
	Examples of Transforming Commands	49
13.	Splunk – Reports	53
	Report Creation	53
	Report Configuration	54
	Modifying Report Search Option	56
14.	Splunk – Dashboards	58
	Creating Dashboard	58
	Adding Panel to Dashboard	60
15.	Splunk – Pivot and Datasets	64



	Creating a Dataset	64
	Selecting a Dataset	64
	Choosing Dataset Fields	65
	Creating Pivot	67
	Choose the Pivot Fields	68
16.	Splunk – Lookups	70
	Steps to Create and Use Lookup File	70
17.	Splunk – Schedules and Alerts	77
	Creating a Schedule	77
	Schedule Actions	79
	Alerts	79
18.	Splunk – Knowledge Management	84
	Knowledge Object	
	Uses of Knowledge Objects	
19.	Splunk – Subsearching	86
	Example	
20.	Splunk – Search Macros	89
	Macro Creation	
	Macro Scenario	90
	Defining the Macro	90
	Using the Macro	92
21.	Splunk – Event Types	94
	Creating Event Type	94
	Using New Event Types	96
	Viewing the Event Type	98
	Using the Event Type	
22.	Splunk – Basic Chart	



	Creating Charts	102
	Changing the Chart Type	103
	Formatting a Chart	104
23.	Splunk – Overlay Chart	105
	Chart Scenario	105
	Creating Chart Overlay	107
24.	Splunk – Sparklines	110
	Selecting the Fields	110
	Creating the Sparkline	111
	Changing the Time Period	112
25.	Splunk – Managing Indexes	113
	Checking Indexes	113
	Creating a New Index	115
	Indexing the Events	116
26.	Splunk – Calculated Fields	118
	Example	118
	Using the eval Function	119
	Adding New Fields	120
	Displaying the calculated Fields	120
27.	Splunk – Tags	122
	Creating Tags	123
	Search Using Tags	124
28.	Splunk – Apps	126
	Listing Splunk Apps	126
	App Permissions	127
	App Marketplace	128
29.	Splunk – Removing Data	130



	Assigning Delete Privilege	130
	Identifying the data to be removed	131
	Deleting the Selected Data	132
30.	Splunk – Custom Chart	135
	Axis Customization	136
	Legend Customization	136
31.	Splunk – Monitor Files	138
	Add files to Monitor	138
32.	Splunk – Sort Command	142
	Sorting by Field Types	142
	Sorting up to a Limit	143
	Using Reverse	145
33.	Splunk – Top Command	146
	Top Values for a Field	146
	Top Values for a Field by a Field	147
	Show Options	148
34.	Splunk – Stats Command	149
	Finding Average	149
	Finding Range	150
	Finding Mean and Variance	151



1. Splunk – Overview

Splunk is a software which processes and brings out insight from machine data and other forms of big data. This machine data is generated by CPU running a webserver, IOT devices, logs from mobile apps, etc. It is not necessary to provide this data to the end users and does not have any business meaning. However, they are extremely important to understand, monitor and optimize the performance of the machines.

Splunk can read this unstructured, semi-structured or rarely structured data. After reading the data, it allows to search, tag, create reports and dashboards on these data. With the advent of big data, Splunk is now able to ingest big data from various sources, which may or may not be machine data and run analytics on big data.

So, from a simple tool for log analysis, Splunk has come a long way to become a general analytical tool for unstructured machine data and various forms of big data.

Product Categories

Splunk is available in three different product categories as follows:

- **Splunk Enterprise:** It is used by companies which have large IT infrastructure and IT driven business. It helps in gathering and analysing the data from websites, applications, devices and sensors, etc.
- **Splunk Cloud:** It is the cloud hosted platform with same features as the enterprise version. It can be availed from Splunk itself or through the AWS cloud platform.
- **Splunk Light:** It allows search, report and alert on all the log data in real time from one place. It has limited functionalities and features as compared to the other two versions.

Splunk Features

In this section, we shall discuss the important features of enterprise edition:

Data Ingestion

Splunk can ingest a variety of data formats: JSON, XML and unstructured machine data such as web and application logs. The unstructured data can be modeled into a data structure by the user as and when needed.

Data Indexing

The ingested data is indexed by Splunk for faster searching and querying on different conditions.



Data Searching

Searching in Splunk involves using the indexed data for the purpose of creating metrics, predicting future trends and identifying patterns in the data.

Using Alerts

Splunk alerts can be used to trigger emails or RSS feeds when some specific criteria are found in the data being analyzed.

Dashboards

Splunk Dashboards can show the search results in the form of charts, reports and pivots, etc.

Data Model

The indexed data can be modelled into one or more data sets that is based on specialized domain knowledge. This leads to easier navigation by the end users who analyze the business cases without learning the technicalities of the search processing language used by Splunk.



2. Splunk – Environment

In this tutorial, we will aim to install the enterprise version. This version is available for a free evaluation for 60 days with all features enabled. You can download the setup using the below link which is available for both windows and Linux platforms.

https://www.splunk.com/en_us/download/splunk-enterprise.html.

Linux Version

The Linux version is downloaded from the download link given above. We choose the .deb package type as the installation will be done in a Ubuntu platform.

We shall learn this with a step by step approach:

Step 1

Download the .deb package as shown in the screenshot below:





Step 2

Go to the download directory and install Splunk using the above downloaded package.



Step 3

Next, you can start Splunk by using the following command with accept license argument. It will ask for administrator user name and password which you should provide and remember.

```
ubuntutrain@ubuntu:/opt/splunk/bin$ sudo ./splunk start --accept-li
cense
This appears to be your first time running this version of Splunk.
Splunk software must create an administrator account during startup
. Otherwise, you cannot log in.
Create credentials for the administrator account.
Characters do not appear on the screen when you type in credentials
.
Please enter an administrator username: admin
Password must contain at least:
 * 8 total printable ASCII character(s).
Please enter a new password:
```

Step 4

The Splunk server starts and mentions the URL where the Splunk interface can be accessed.



```
Starting splunk server daemon (splunkd)...
Generating a 2048 bit RSA private key
...Termhol.+++
writing new private key to 'privKeySecure.pem'
-----
Signature ok
subject=/CN=ubuntu/O=SplunkUser
Getting CA Private Key
writing RSA key
Done
Waiting for web server at http://127.0.0.1:8000 to be available....
..... Done
If you get stuck, we're here to help.
Look for answers here: http://docs.splunk.com
The Splunk web interface is at http://ubuntu:8000
```

Step 5

Now, you can access the Splunk URL and enter the admin user ID and password created in step 3.





Windows Version

The windows version is available as a msi installer as shown in the below image:



Double clicking on the msi installer installs the Windows version in a straight forward process. The two important steps where we must make the right choice for successful installation are as follows.

Step 1

As we are installing it on a local system, choose the local system option as given below:





Step 2

Enter the password for the administrator and remember it, as it will be used in the future configurations.

splunk Enterprise Setup	se		
An administrator password must be at a minimum, 8 printable ASCII cha	set before installatio racters.	n proceeds. Passw	ord must contain
Password:			-
Confirm password:			-



Step 3

In the final step, we see that Splunk is successfully installed and it can be launched from the web browser.



Step 4

Next, open the browser and enter the given url, <u>http://localhost:8000</u>, and login to the Splunk using the admin user ID and password.





3. Splunk – Interface

The Splunk web interface consists of all the tools you need to search, report and analyse the data that is ingested. The same web interface provides features for administering the users and their roles. It also provides links for data ingestion and the in-built apps available in Splunk.

The below picture shows the initial screen after your login to Splunk with the admin credentials.

🚯 Adm 🔹 M	lessages ▼ Settings ▼ Activity ▼	Help - Find Q
Explore Splunk Enterp	orise	
Product Tours	Add Data	Splunk Apps 亿
New to Splunk? Take a tour to help you on your way.	Add or forward data to Splunk Enterprise. Afterwards, you may extract fields.	Apps and add-ons extend the capabilities of Splunk Enterprise.

Administrator Link

The Administrator drop down gives the option to set and edit the details of the administrator. We can reset the admin email ID and password using the below screen:

Full name	Administrator	
Email address	changeme@example.com	
Old password	Old password	
Set password	New password	
Confirm password	Confirm new password	
	Password must contain at least ?	
	8 characters	



Further from the administrator link, we can also navigate to the preferences option where we can set the time zone and home application on which the landing page will open after your login. Currently, it opened on the Home page as shown below:

Preferences		×
Global SPL Edito		
Use these properties time range picker. You Splunk software resta	to set your timezone, default application, and def can also specify if background jobs should resta rts.	fault search art when
Time zone	Default System Timezone	-
	Set a time zone for this user.	
Default application	Home	
	This setting overrides any default application.	
Restart	\bigcirc	
background jobs	Restart background jobs when the Splunk software is re	estarted.
	Cancel	Apply

Settings Link

This is a link which shows all the core features available in Splunk. For example, you can add the lookup files and lookup definitions by choosing the lookup link.

We will discuss the important settings of these links in the subsequent chapters.



	 Adminis • 	Messages • Settings •	Activity •	Help •	Find	q
Exp		KNOWLEDGE Searches, reports, and alerts	DATA	outs		
		Data models	Forward	ding and re	ceiving	
		Event types	Indexes	1	-0710	
	Add Data	Tags	Report a	acceleratio	n summaries	
		Fields	Source	types		
N	† \$ †	Lookups User interface	DISTRIBU	JTED ENVIR	ONMENT	
to	Monitoring	Alert actions	Indexer	clustering		
	Console	Advanced search	Forward	der manage	ement	
		All configurations	Distribu	ted search		
		SYSTEM	USERS A	ND AUTHEN	TICATION	
2		Server settings	Access	controls		
		Server controls				
		Health report manager				
		Instrumentation				
		Licensing				
1		Workload management				
			Ilouin	1.		_

Search and Reporting Link

The search and reporting link takes us to the features where we can find the data sets that are available for searching the reports and alerts created for these searches. It is clearly shown in the below screenshot:



sp	blunk	>enterprise	4			4	0	<i>k</i> •	Messag	es 🕶	Setting	^
Se	earch	Datasets	Reports	Ale	erts	Dashboards						
D	ata	sets										
Us co da Le	se the ontents itaset earn m	Datasets listin s. Click Pivot to in Search and ore about Data	g page to view design a visu save it as a ne asets. [2] Don'	v and i alizati w rep t have	manage on-rich re ort, alert, the Splu	your existing eport based or dashboa unk Datasets	on t rd p Ad	tasets. he dat anel. d-on?	Click a di taset. Click Download	ataset k Explo l it here	name to v pre in Sea e. [2 ription, fie	
		Titlo 🔺	Dataset Type		4 -	Actions				Owner		
	>	Splunk's In	data model		+	Manage	•	Explore	e 🔻	nobod	y	
	>	Splunk's In	data model		4	Manage	•	Explor	e •	nobod	У	
	>	Splunk's In	data model		+	Manage	•	Explor	e 🕶	nobod	У	
	>	Splunk's In	data model		4	Manage	•	Explor	e •	nobod	У	¥
<											>	



Data ingestion in Splunk happens through the **Add Data** feature which is part of the search and reporting app. After logging in, the Splunk interface home screen shows the **Add Data** icon as shown below.

Messages Settings Activity	y▼ Help▼	Find
orise		
	F	
	-	Ē
Add Data	Splur	nk Apps 🖄
Add or forward data to Splunk Enterprise. Afterwards, you may extract fields.	Apps and ad capabilit Ent	d-ons extend the ies of Splunk erprise.
	Messages • Settings • Activit	Messages Settings Activity Help

On clicking this button, we are presented with the screen to select the source and format of the data we plan to push to Splunk for analysis.

Gathering The Data

We can get the data for analysis from the Official Website of Splunk. Save this file and unzip it in your local drive. On opening the folder, you can find three files which have different formats. They are the log data generated by some web apps. We can also gather another set of data provided by Splunk which is available at from the Official Splunk webpage.

We will use data from both these sets for understanding the working of various features of Splunk.

Uploading data

Next, we choose the file, **secure.log** from the folder, **mailsv** which we have kept in our local system as mentioned in the previous paragraph. After selecting the file, we move to next step using the green coloured next button in the top right corner.



	Add Data	Select Source	Set Source Type	O Input Settings	Review	—O Done
Select	Source					
Choose a file	e to upload to the	e Splunk platform,	either by browsing	your computer o	or by dropp	ing a fil
Selected	File: secure.log					
- Select int						
			Drop yo	ur data file	here	
			The maximum	file upload size i	s 500 Mb	
8				Dono		

Selecting Source Type

Splunk has an in-built feature to detect the type of the data being ingested. It also gives the user an option to choose a different data type than the chosen by Splunk. On clicking the source type drop down, we can see various data types that Splunk can ingest and enable for searching.

In the current example given below, we choose the default source type.



Add Data	-		-0	-0-	-0
Add Data	Select Source	Set Source Type	Input Settings	Review	Don

Set Source Type

This page lets you see how the Splunk platform sees your data before indexing. If the events look corre "Next" to proceed. If not, use the options below to define proper event breaks and timestamps. If you car your data, create a new one by clicking "Save As".

Source: secure.log

			< Prev 1 2
	4		Time
 Default Settings Splunk's default source type settings 		1	10/8/18 12:15:05.000 AM
Application	P		
Database	E.	2	10/8/18
Email	×.		12:15:05.000 AM
Metrics	E.		10 10 10
Miscellaneous	Ř.	3	10/8/18 12:15:05.000 AM
Network & Security	*		
Operating System	ж.	4	10/8/18
Structured	E		12:15:05.000 AM
Uncategorized	>	5	10/8/18
Web	8	5	12:15:05.000 AM

Input Settings

In this step of data ingestion, we configure the host name from which the data is being ingested. Following are the options to choose from, for the host name:

Constant value

It is the complete host name where the source data resides.

regex on path

When you want to extract the host name with a regular expression, enter the regex for in the regular expression field.



segment in path

When you want to extract the host name from a segment in your data source's path, enter the segment number in the Segment number field. For example, if the path to the source is **/var/log/** and you want the third segment (the host server name) to be the host value, enter "3".

Next, we choose the index type to be created on the input data for searching. We choose the default index strategy. The summary index only creates summary of the data through aggregation and creates index on it while the history index is for storing the search history. It is clearly depicted in the image below:

• •							
t Source Set Source	Type In	out Settings	Review	O Done	< Back	Review	×
		-					
ers for this data input as	s follows:						
, each event receives a he name of the machir	ne		C	 Constar 	nt value		
e of input you choose options. Learn More 🛽				 Regular Segmer 	expression on the state of the	on path	
		Host field	d value	mailsecur	e_log		
ta as events in the xx" index as a			Index	Default	Create	a new index	
ibleshoot your	✓ Def	ault					
ion indexes. You can Iore 12		history					
		main					
	E	summary					J



Review Settings

After clicking on the next button, we see a summary of the settings we have chosen. We review it and choose Next to finish the uploading of data.

Add Data Select Source Set Source Typ Review Input Type	e	Input Settings	Review	Done
Select Source Set Source Typ Review Input Type Uploaded File	e	Input Settings	Review	Done
Review				
Input Type Uploaded File				
File Name secure.log				
Source Type securelogsource				
Host mailsecure_log				
Index Default				

On finishing the load, the below screen appears which shows the successful data ingestion and further possible actions we can take on the data.



Add Data	Select Source	Set Source Type	Input Settings	Review	Done
ile has been	uploaded	successful	ly.		
ontigure your inputs b	y going to Setting	js > Data Inputs			
Start Searching	Search your o	data now or see ex	amples and tutor	ials. 12	
Extract Fields	Create searc	h-time field extract	ions. Learn more	about fields	i. 12
Add More Data	Add more da	ta inputs now or se	e examples and	tutorials. 🛽	
Download Apps	Apps help yo	u do more with yo	ur data. Learn mo	re. 🖪	
Build Dashboards	Visualize you	r searches. Learn r	nore. 12		



5. Splunk – Source Types

All the incoming data to Splunk are first judged by its inbuilt data processing unit and classified to certain data types and categories. For example, if it is a log from apache web server, Splunk is able to recognize that and create appropriate fields out of the data read.

This feature in Splunk is called source type detection and it uses its built-in source types that are known as "pretrained" source types to achieve this.

This makes things easier for analysis as the user does not have to manually classify the data and assign any data types to the fields of the incoming data.

Supported Source Types

The supported source types in Splunk can be seen by uploading a file through the **Add Data** feature and then selecting the dropdown for Source Type. In the below image, we have uploaded a CSV file and then checked for all the available options.

	splunk>enterprise /+		🚯 /~	2	Messa	ges 🔻
	Add Data	Select Source	Set Source Type	Inp	-O	ngs Re
	Set Source Type This page lets you see how the S "Next" to proceed. If not, use the your data, create a new one by o Source: prodcutidvals.csv	Splunk platform se options below to licking "Save As"	ees your data befo) define proper eve !	re inde Int brea	exing. If aks and	the even I timestar
	Source type: csv 🕶		Save As	Tat	ole 🕶	🖌 Forr
	Filter			-		_time
>	Default Settings	4		1	A	11/23/1 12:05:1
>	Splunk's default source type setti	ngs		2	*	11/23/1 12:05:1
	Custom			3	A	11/23/1 12:05:
	Email	*		4	A	11/23/1 12:05:
	Metrics Miscellaneous	*		5	•	11/23/1 12:05:1
	Network & Security	× .		6	•	11/23/1
	Operating System	>				12.05.
	Structured	×		7	A	11/23/1 12:05:1
	Web	5		8	A	11/23/1



Source Type Sub-Category

Even in those categories, we can further click to see all the sub categories that are supported. So when you choose the database category, you can find the different types of databases and their supported files which Splunk can recognize.

	splunk>enterprise /~		4 🚯	2	Messa	ges 🕶		
	Add Data	Select Source	Set Source Type	Inp	O-O-	ıgs Re		
:	Set Source Type This page lets you see how the s "Next" to proceed. If not, use the your data, create a new one by o	Splunk platform se options below to clicking "Save As"	ees your data befor define proper ever	e inde nt bre	exing. If aks and	the even I timestar		
	Source: prodcutidvals.csv		db_auditcsv			^		
>	Source type: csv 🕶	٩	mysql_slow Slow query log output MySQL database serve	produ er	ced by th	ie		
>	Default Settings Splunk's default source type setti	ings	 mysqld Output produced by the MySQL database server 					
	Application Custom	2	mysqld_bin Binary log output prod database server	uced b	y the My	SQL		
	Database 🗧		mysgld_error			~		
	Email	2		4	A	11/23/1		
	Metrics	2		5	A	11/23/1		
	Miscellaneous	>		9	-	12:05:		
	Network & Security	>		6		11/23/1		
	Operating System	>				12:05:1		
	Structured	÷ .		7	A	11/23/1		
	Uncategorized	> .				12:05:		
	Web	÷ :		8	A	11/23/1		



Pre-Trained Source Types

The below table lists some of the important pre-trained source types Splunk recognizes:

Source Type Name	Nature
access_combined	NCSA combined format http web server logs (can be generated by apache or other web servers)
access_combined_wcookie	NCSA combined format http web server logs (can be generated by apache or other web servers), with cookie field added at end
apache_error	Standard Apache web server error log
linux_messages_syslog	Standard linux syslog (/var/log/messages on most platforms)
log4j	Log4j standard output produced by any J2EE server using log4j
mysqld_error	Standard mysql error log



6. Splunk – Basic Search

Splunk has a robust search functionality which enables you to search the entire data set that is ingested. This feature is accessed through the app named as **Search & Reporting** which can be seen in the left side bar after logging in to the web interface.

splunk>enterprise	🚯 🏞 Messages 🕶 Settings
splunk>enterprise	Messages · Settings Explore Splunk Enterprise Product Tours New to Splunk? Take a tour to help you on your way. extract field

On clicking on the **search & Reporting** app, we are presented with a search box, where we can start our search on the log data that we uploaded in the previous chapter.

We type the host name in the format as shown below and click on the search icon present in the right most corner. This gives us the result highlighting the search term.



Splunk

sp	olunk>enterprise	4			0	/ ▼	Messages 🔻	Settings 🕶
Se	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards	ġ.			
N	lew Search							
-	ost="mailsecure_lo	g"						
1	9,829 events (before	10/20/18 9:17:0	5.000 AM) No Event	Samp	ling 🔻		
				Job 🕶 💷	я.	ð	e ∓	• Smart Mo
Ev	ents (9,829) Pat	terns Stati	stics \	/isualization				
E	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out	+.70	om to Selection	1	× De	select	
				an an the second se				
-								
>	Show Fields Li	st ▼ 🖌 For	mat 3	20 Per Page 🔻			< Prev	1 2 :
i	Time	Event						
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 3351 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1	sshd	[5276]: Failed pas	ssword for inv
		host = mailse	ecure_log	source = se	ecure	.log	sourcetype =	= securelogsou
>	10/15/18	Thu Oct 15	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1	sshd	[1039]: Failed pas	ssword for roo
	12:15:06.000 AM	host = mails	ecure_log	source = se	ecure	.log	sourcetype =	 securelogsou
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 626 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1	sshd	[5258]: Failed pas	ssword for inv
		host = mails	ecure_log	source = se	ecure	.log	sourcetype =	securelogsou

Combining Search Terms

We can combine the terms used for searching by writing them one after another but putting the user search strings under double quotes.



sp	olunk>enterprise	/★ Messages ★ Settings ▼
Se	earch Datasets	Reports Alerts Dashboards
N	lew Search	
s	source="secure.log"	host="mailsecure_log" sourcetype="securelogsource"
~	9,829 events (before	10/20/18 9:30:24.000 AM) No Event Sampling *
		Job 🔻 🔢 📄 🤌 🛓 📍 Smart Mo
Ev	vents (9,829) Pat	terns Statistics Visualization
F	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out + Zoom to Selection × Deselect
-		
>	Show Fields	ist ▼ ✓ Format 20 Per Page ▼ ✓ < Prev 1 2 :
i	Time	Event
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 mailsv1 sshd[5276]: Failed password for in 3351 ssh2
		host = mailsecure_log source = secure.log sourcetype = securelogso
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 mailsv1 sshd[1039]: Failed password for roo host = mailsecure_log source = secure.log sourcetype = securelogso
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 mailsv1 sshd[5258]: Failed password for in 626 ssh2
		host = mailsecure_log source = secure.log sourcetype = securelogso

Using Wild Card

We can use wild cards in our search option combined with the **AND/OR** operators. In the below search, we get the result where the log file has the terms containing fail, failed, failure, etc., along with the term password in the same line.



sp	olunk>enterprise	l*	0	/ 7	Messages 🔻	Settings 🔻
Se	earch Datasets	Reports Alerts	Dashboards			
N	lew Search					
f	fail* AND password					
1	66,272 events (befor	e 10/20/18 9:36:32.000 /	AM) No Event Sa	mpling A)	? Smart Mo
Ev	vents (66,272) Pa	atterns Statistics	Visualization			
F	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out + Zo	om to Selection	×De	eselect	
1				8		
>	Show Fields L	st 🔹 🖌 Format	20 Per Page 🕶		< Prev	1 2
i	Time	Event				
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00: 3351 ssh2	15:06 mailsv1 ssh	d[5276	5]: <mark>Failed</mark> pas	<mark>sword</mark> for in
		host = solunkhost	source = secure.log	so	urcetype = mai	lsecurelogdata
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00: 3351 ssh2	15:06 mailsv1 ssh	d[5276	i]: Failed pas	<mark>sword</mark> for in
		host = mailsecure_log	source = secur	e.log	sourcetype =	securelogsou
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00: host = mailsecure_log	15:06 mailsv1 ssh source = secur	d[1039 e.log]: Failed pas	sword for ro

Refining Search Results

We can further refine the search result by selecting a string and adding it to the search. In the below example, we click over the string **3351** and select the option **Add to Search**.

After **3351** is added to the search term, we get the below result which shows only those lines from the log containing 3351 in them. Also mark how the time line of the search result has changed as we have refined the search.



Splunk

sp	olunk>e	enterprise	<i>L</i> •			0	<i>[</i> •	Messages	
Se	earch	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards	8			
N	lew S	earch							
f	fail* <mark>AN</mark>	D password 3	3351						
~	21 events	s (before 10/2	0/18 9:53:14.0 Job ۱	000 AM)	No Event Sam	plinç 4	, •	Smart Mo	
Ev	ents (21)	Pattern	s Statistic	s Visua	alization				
F	ormat Tir	neline 🔻	- Zoom Out	t + Zoc	om to Selection	č	×D	eselect	
					-111				
>	Show Fie	elds Li	st 🔹 🖌 Fo	rmat 2	20 Per Page 🔻				
i	Time		Event						
>	10/15/1 12:15:0	18 06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 3351 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1	ssho	i[527	6]: <mark>Failed</mark> (
			host = solur	nkhost s	ource = secure	e.log	s	ourcetype = r	
>	10/15/1	18 06 000 AM	Thu Oct 15	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1	ssho	[527	6]: <mark>Failed</mark>	
			host = mailsecure_log source = secure.log sourcetyp						
>	10/15/1	18 06 000 AM	Thu Oct 15 4856 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1	ssho	i[335	1]: Failed (
			host = solu	nkhost s	ource = secure	e.log	s	ourcetype = r	
>	10/15/1 12:15:0	18 06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 4856 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1(ssho	1[335	1]:]Failed	
			host = mails	secure_log	source = se	ecure	e.log	sourcetyp	



7. Splunk – Field Searching

When Splunk reads the uploaded machine data, it interprets the data and divides it into many fields which represent a single logical fact about the entire data record.

For example, a single record of information may contain server name, timestamp of the event, type of the event being logged whether login attempt or a http response, etc. Even in case of unstructured data, Splunk tries to divide the fields into key value pairs or separate them based on the data types they have, numeric and string, etc.

Continuing with the data uploaded in the previous chapter, we can see the fields from the **secure.log** file by clicking on the show fields link which will open up the following screen. We can notice the fields Splunk has generated from this log file.

splunk>enterprise +		0	I Messages ▼ Settings							
Search Datasets Reports A	lerts	Dashboards								
New Search										
fail* AND password										
✓ 66,272 events (before 10/21/18 6:48:13.)	000 AN	1) No Event Samp Job 🔻 🕕 🔳	oling ▼ → 🐴 ± 📍 Smart Mo							
Events (66,272) Patterns Statist	ics	Visualization								
Format Timeline - Zoom Out	+Zoo	om to Selection	× Deselect							
	List ▼ ✓ Format 20 Per Page ▼ < Prev 1 2									
< Hide Fields i≡ All Fields	i	Time	Event							
SELECTED FIELDS <i>a</i> host 4 <i>a</i> source 3	>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 m id user appserver from 194 host= solunkhost source=							
a sourcetype 4 INTERESTING FIELDS # date_hour 24 # date_mday 30	>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 m id user appserver from 194 host = mailsecure_log sou sourcetype = securelogsource							
<pre># date_minute 60 a date_month 2 # date_second 60</pre>	>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 m from 194.8.74.23 port 3768 host = mailsecure_logsou							



Choosing the Fields

We can choose what fields to be displayed by selecting or unselecting the fields from the list of all fields. Clicking on **all fields** opens a window showing the list of all the fields. Some of these fields have check marks against them showing they are already selected. We can use the check boxes to choose our fields for display.

Besides the name of the field, it displays the number of distinct values the fields have, its data type and what percentage of events this field is present in.

S	elect F	ields				×
Select All Within Filter			Deselect All	Coverage: 1%	or more 💌	
i	× •	Field \$	# of Values \$	Event Coverage 💲	Type 🗢	^
>		host	4	100%	String	
>		source	3	100%	String	
>	>	sourcet ype	4	100%	String	
>		date_h our	24	100%	Number	
>		date_m day	30	100%	Number	
>		date_m inute	60	100%	Number	
>		date_m onth	2	100%	String	
>		date_s econd	60	100%	Number	
>		date_w day	7	100%	String	
>		date_y ear	1	100%	Number	
>		date_z one	1	100%	String	
>		index	1	100%	String	
>		linecou nt	1	100%	Number	
>		pid	>100	75.23%	Number	~



Field Summary

Very detailed stats for every selected field become available by clicking on the name of the field. It shows all the distinct values for the field, their count and their percentages.

		6	4	Messages 🕶	Settings -	Activity - H	lelp 🔻	Find
Alert	s I	Dashboards					> s	earch & F
							Sa	ve As 🕶
								All time •
8:13.000	AM)	No Event Sar	npling	•				
	Job	•	ð	ð ± .	Smart Mode	7		
tatistics	Vi	sualization						
ut +	Zoom	to Selection	×D	eselect				1 day
			- 1			_		
			-9					
1	List 🔻	🖌 Format	2	20 Per Page 🔻				
	sou	rcetype						×
ds	4 Va	lues, 100% of e	vents			Selected	Yes	No
	Repo	orts						
	Тор	values	To	p values by time		Rare valu	es	
2	Even	ts with this field	ł					
	Valu	es			Count	%		
	linu	x_secure			49,85	3 75.232	%	
	mail	securelogdata			8,154	12.304	%	
	secu	relogsource			8,154	12.304	%	1
	acce	ss_combined_w	cookie		106	0.16%		
			5	ourcetype = secu	ireiogsource			
	> 1	0/15/18 2:15:06.000 AM	T 1 f	hu Oct 15 2018 rom 194.8.74.23	00:15:06 mails port 3768 ssh	v1 sshd[1039]: 2	Failed	password
			h	ost = solunkhost			otvno =	mailsocur


Using Fields in Search

The field names can also be inserted into the search box along with the specific values for the search. In the below example, we aim to find all the records for the date, 15th Oct for the host named **mailsecure_log**. We get the result for this specific date.

splunk>enterprise /+		6	•	Messages 🔻	Settings 🕶		
Search Datasets Reports	Alerts	Dashboards					
New Search							
fail* AND password host="mailsecu	ure_log"	date_mday					
✓ 8,154 events (before 10/21/18 7:22:58 Events (8154) Patterns Statist	date_mda date_mda date_mda date_mda date_mda	iy="1" iy="10" iy="11" iy="12" iy="13"			Matching Te Matching Te Matching Te Matching Te Matching Te		
Format Timeline - Zoom Out	date_md date_md date_md	y="14" y-"15"	•		Matching Te Matching Te Matching Te		
i I	1			1			
	Lis	t • Format	1 2	20 Per Page ▼ ∢ Prev	1 2 3		
< Hide Fields	i	Time	E	vent			
SELECTED FIELDS a host 1 a source 1 a sourcetype 1	>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 A	M i h s	Thu Oct 15 2018 00:15:06 mails id user appserver from 194.8.7 host = mailsecure_log source sourcetype = securelogsource			
INTERESTING FIELDS # date_hour 1 # date_mday 8 # date_minute 1	>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 A	T M f h s	hu Oct 15 2018 rom 194.8.74.2 ost = <mark>mailsecure</mark> ourcetype = sec	00:15:06 mailsv 3 port 3768 ssh2 2_log source = urelogsource		
a date_month 1	>	10/15/18	т	hu Oct 15 2018	00:15:06 mailsv		



The Splunk web interface displays timeline which indicates the distribution of events over a range of time. There are preset time intervals from which you can select a specific time range, or you can customize the time range as per your need.

The below screen shows various preset timeline options. Choosing any of these options will fetch the data for only that specific time period which you can also analyse further, using the custom timeline options available.

	0	🛧 Messages 🕶	Settings -	Activity 🕶	Help 👻	Find	Q.
ert	ts Dashboards				> s	earch & F	Reporting
					Sa	ive As 🔻	Close
						All time	Q
00	✓ Presets						
	REAL-TIME	RELATIVE			OTHER		
	30 second window 1 minute window 5 minute window 30 minute window 1 hour window All time (real-time)	Today Week to date Business week to da Month to date Year to date Yesterday Previous week Previous business w Previous month Previous year	Last Last Last Last Last Last	15 minutes 60 minutes 4 hours 24 hours 7 days 30 days	All time		
	> Relative						
1	> Real-time						
1	> Date Range						
	> Date & Time Range						
	> Advanced						
	> 10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 2018 0 id user appserver	00:15:06 mail from 194.8.	sv1 sshd[52 74.23 port	76]: <mark>Failed</mark> 3351 ssh2	password	for inva



For example, choosing the previous month option gives us the result only for the previous month as you can see the in spread of the timeline graph below.

	0	A Messages 🔹	Settings 🔻	Activity 🕶	Help 🔻	Find	٩
.	Dashboards				ء 🔼	Search & I	Reporting
				ĺ	Si Previo	ave As 🔻	Close
0/1/1	IB 12:00:000 AM Job • II 🔳) No Event Samp み 흅 보	ling ~ ¶ Smart Mc	ode ▼			<u> </u>
3	Visualization				17		
Zo	om to Selection	× Deselect			V	1 day	2,000
8		Sat Sep 15		Sat Sep 22			800
Lis	t▼ 🖌 Format	20 Per Page ▼ < Prev	1 2 3	4 5	6 7	8	Next >
i	Time	Event					
>	9/30/18 11:40:10.000 PM	Sun Sep 30 2018 user helpdesk f host = web_serv sourcetype = linu	23:40:10 www rom 175.44.26 er source = I ux_secure	1 sshd[2811]: 139 port 22 inux_s_30DAY	Failed pa ssh2 (log	<mark>issword</mark> fo	r invalid
>	9/30/18 11:39:53.000 PM	Sun Sep 30 2018 user irc from 1	23:39:53 www 75.44.26.139 p	sshd[5563]: port 22 ssh2	Failed pa	<mark>issword</mark> fo	r invalid

Selecting a Time Subset

By clicking and dragging across the bars in the timeline, we can select a subset of the result that already exists. This does not cause the re-execution of the query. It only filters out the records from the existing result set.

Below image shows the selection of a subset from the result set:



Splunk

•	🕶 Messages 🕶	Settings 🔻	Activity 🔻	Help 🔻	Find	Q,
Dashboards				> s	earch & F	Reporting
				Si	ave As 🕶	Close
				Previo	us month •	Q
18 12:00:00.000 AM)	No Event Samplin	g *				
Job 🕶 🔢 🔳	~ 6 ±	Smart Mode	•			
lisualization						
om to Selection	× Deselect				1 day	per column
		Sep 23, 2	018		Sep 27, 2018	2,000 1,400 800
	Sat Sep 15		Sat 5 4 d	lays		
st 🔹 🖌 Format	20 Per Page ▼ < Prev	1 2 3	4 5	6 7	8	Next >
Time	Event					
9/26/18 11:53:42.000 PM	Wed Sep 26 2018 user yp from 2.22 host = web_server sourcetype = linux	23:53:42 www1 29.4.58 port : source = lir _secure	sshd[2641]: 3578 ssh2 nux_s_30DA\	Failed pa	<mark>ssword</mark> for	r invalid
9/26/18 11:53:31.000 PM	Wed Sep 26 2018 2 user web002 from host = web_server sourcetype = linux	23:53:31 www1 2.229.4.58 pc source = lir _secure	sshd[1007]: ort 22 ssh2 nux_s_30DAN	Failed pa	<mark>ssword</mark> for	r invalid
9/26/18 11:53:07.000 PM	Wed Sep 26 2018 2 user jessica from	23:53:07 www1 n 2.229.4.58 g	sshd[5098]: port 22 ssh2	Failed pa	<mark>ssword</mark> for	r invalid

Earliest and Latest

The two commands, earliest and latest can be used in the search bar to indicate the time range in between which you filter out the results. It is similar to selecting the time subset, but it is through commands rather than the option of clicking at a specific time line bar. So, it provides a finer control over that data range you can pick for your analysis.



splun	<>enterprise /*		(1)	🗲 Messages 🕶 Setting
Search	Datasets Reports	Alerts	Dashboards	
New	/ Search			
host=	mailsecure_log <mark>earliest</mark> =-15	id <mark>latest</mark> =	:-7d	
√ 8,858	8 events (before 10/14/18 10:34:	18.000 AN	I) No Event Samp	ling 🕶
		oL O	b 🕶 🔢 🔳 🤌	🛃 🛓 📍 Smart Mo
Events	(8,858) Patterns Stati	stics \	/isualization	
-				
Forma	t Timeline 🔹 — Zoom Out	+ Zo	om to Selection	× Deselect
1,800				
1,400			1	
1,000				
600				
	Sun Oct 7		Tue Oct 9	Thu Oct 11
		Lis	E Format	20 Per Page 🔻
			, i format	201ch tuge
				< Prev 1 2
< Hide	Fields i≡ All Fields	i	Time	Event
SELECT	ED FIELDS	>	10/14/18	Wed Oct 14 2018 00:15:06
a host	1		12:15:06.000 AM	p from 193.33.170.23 por
a sourc	e 1			host = mailsecure_log s
a sourc	etype 1			sourcetype = securelogsour
INTERES	INTERESTING FIELDS		10/14/18	Wed Oct 14 2018 00:15:06
# date			12:15:06.000 AM	1d user jabber from 193.
# date_	mday 7			host = mailsecure_log s
# date	minute 1			sourcetype = securelogsou
a date_	month 1	>	10/14/18	Wed Oct 14 2018 00:15:06
# date_	second 2		12:15:06.000 AM	id user rightscale from

In the above image, we give a time range between last 7 days to last 15 days. So, the data in between these two days is displayed.

Nearby Events

We can also find nearby events of a specific time by mentioning how close we want the events to be filtered out. We have the option of choosing the scale of the interval, like – seconds, minutes, days and week etc.



When you run a search query, the result is stored as a job in the Splunk server. While this job was created by one specific user, it can be shared across with other users so that they can start using this result set without the necessity of building the query for it again. The results can also be exported and saved as files which can be shared with users who do not use Splunk.

Sharing the Search Result

Once a query has run successfully, we can see a small upward arrow in the middle right of the web page. Clicking on this icon gives a URL where the query and the result can be accessed. There is a need to grant permission to the users who will be using this link. Permission is granted through the Splunk administration interface.





Finding the Saved Results

The jobs that are saved to be used by all users with appropriate permissions can be located by looking for the jobs link under the activity menu in the top right bar of the Splunk interface. In the below image, we click on the highlighted link named jobs to find the saved jobs.

0	• Messages	 Settings • 	Activity Hel	p ▼ Find	Q
Dashboards				Jobs	Ľ
				Triggered Alerts Save As 👻 🕔	L2 Liose
				All time 🕶	Q
M) No Event Samp	ling 🕶				
b ▼ 11 🔳 A	8 ±	• Smart Mode •			
/isualization					
om to Selection	× Deselect			1 day pe	er column
				10	3,0
					2,0
					1,00
d Oct 10 Thu	Oct 11	Fri Oct 12	Sat Oct 13	Sun Oct 14	
t 🔹 🖌 Format	20 Per Page 🔻				
	< Prev	1 2 3	4 5 6	7 8 N	ext >
Time	Event				
10/15/18 12:15:06:000 AM	Thu Oct 15 20 id user appse)18 00:15:06 mail erver from 194.8	lsv1 sshd[5276]: F	ailed password fo	or inva
	host = mailsec sourcetype = s	ure_log source	e = secure.log		
10/15/18 12·15·06 000 ΔΜ	Thu Oct 15 20	018 00:15:06 mail	Lsv1 sshd[1039]: F sh2	ailed password fo	or root

After the above link is clicked, we get the list of all the saved jobs as shown below. He, we have to note that there is an expiry date post where the saved job will automatically get removed from Splunk. You can adjust this date by selecting the job and clicking on Edit selected and then choosing Extend Expiration.



Splunk

splu	nk >enterprise	<i>ŀ</i> •		0 /	- Messages	 Settings
Joi Mana 2 Joi	DS age your jobs. Learn os App: Search &	More 🗗 & Reporting (search)	 Filter 	by owner '	 Status: Al 	l 🕶 filter
Ed	it Selected 🔻					
	Owner :	Application \$	Events \$	Size ‡	Created at 👻	Expires \$
×	admin a	search	9,829	364 KB	Oct 23, 2018 10:30:59 AM	Oct 30, 2018 10:53:58 AM
	host=mailsecure_	log [before 10/23/18	10:30:59.000	AM]		
>	admin	search	8,858	300 KB	Oct 21, 2018 10:34:18 AM	Oct 28, 2018 10:45:39 PM
	host=mailsecure_	log earliest=-15d late	est=-7d [before	e 10/14/18 1	0:34:18.000 AM]	

Exporting the Search Result

We can also export the results of a search into a file. The three different formats available for export are: CSV, XML and JSON. Clicking on the Export button after choosing the formats downloads the file from the local browser into the local system. This is explained in the below image:



splunk>enterprise /+		0	4	Messages 🕶	Setting
Search Datasets Repor	ts Alerts	Dashboards			
New Search					
host=mailsecure_log					
✓ 9,829 events (before 10/23/18)	10:30:59.000 AI	M) No Event Sar	npling	Export	8 210
	oL	b▼ II ■	n 🖥	*	Smart Mo
Events (9,829) Patterns	Statistics \	/isualization			
Format Timeline - Zoon	n Out + Zoo	om to Selection	×De	select	
3,000					
2,000				17	_
1,000					
Export Results				×	12
Format		CSV 🕶] 2
< I File Name ?	op Raw	Events]
SEL Number of Results	lea CSV				15:06
<i>a</i> h Your search will rerun if the	XML				rom 15
4 S	JSOI	N) sc ogsour
C N					15:06
INT		Ca	ancel	Export	rt 376
# date_mday 8			10		uy sc
# date_minute 1			SOL	urcetype = sec	urelogsour
a data ana di A			2		



The Splunk Search Processing Language (SPL) is a language containing many commands, functions, arguments, etc., which are written to get the desired results from the datasets. For example, when you get a result set for a search term, you may further want to filter some more specific terms from the result set. For this, you need some additional commands to be added to the existing command. This is achieved by learning the usage of SPL.

Components of SPL

SPL has the following components:

- Search Terms These are the keywords or phrases you are looking for.
- **Commands** The action you want to take on the result set like format the result or count them.
- **Functions** What are the computations you are going to apply on the results. Like Sum, Average etc.
- **Clauses** How to group or rename the fields in the result set.

Let us discuss all the components with the help of images in the below section:

Search Terms

These are the terms you mention in the search bar to get specific records from the dataset which meet the search criteria. In the below example, we are searching for records which contain two highlighted terms.



s	plunk>enterprise	<i>F</i> •		1	6 🗖	Messages	• Settii
S	earch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards	ļ.		
N	lew Search						
	host="mailsecure_lo	og" nsharpe					
~	376 events (before 10	0/24/18 8:57:55.	000 AM)	No Event Sa	mpling 🕶		
			Job 🔻	11	ə 👼	¥ •	Smart Mo
E	vents (376) Patte	rns Statistic	s Visi	ualization			
F	Format Timeline 💌	- Zoom Out	+ Zoo	m to Selection	×D	eselect	
70							
50							
30							
	Mon Oct 8 2018	Tue Oct 9	Wed	Oct 10	Thu Oct	11	Fri Oct 12
>	Show Fields L	ist 🔹 🖌 Forr	mat 2	0 Per Page 🔻		< Prev	1 :
i	Time	Event					
>	10/13/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Tue Oct 13 2 host = <mark>mailse</mark>	2018 00:15 cure_log	5:06 mailsv1 s source = se	sudo: <mark>ns</mark> cure.log	narpe ; TTY	=pts/0 ; = securel
>	10/13/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Tue Oct 13 2 host= <mark>mailse</mark>	2018 00:15 cure_log	5:06 mailsv1 s source = se	sshd[102 cure.log	49]: failed sourcetype	bassword - = securel
>	10/13/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Tue Oct 13 2 0)	2018 00:15	5:06 mailsv1 s	sshd[653	18]: pam_uni:	x(sshd:se:

Commands

You can use many in-built commands that SPL provides to simplify the process of analysing the data in the result set. In the below example we use the head command to filter out only the top 3 results from a search operation.



sp	unk>enterprise	<i>I</i> ≁			0	A•	Messages 👻	Setti
Sea	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	s			
N	ew Search							
h	ost="mailsecure_log	g" head 3						
√ 3	events (before 10/24	4/18 9:23:59.0	00 AM)	No Event San	npling	•		
Eve	ents (3) Patterns	Statistics	Job • Visual	ization	9	• ±	. • 5	mart Mo
Fo	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out	+ Zoc	m to Selectio	n	× Dese	lect	
1	2:15:06.000 AM Show Fields Li	12:15:00	5.000 AM rmat 2	1: 20 Per Page •	2:15:06.	.000 AM		12:15:0
i	Time	Event						
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 3351 ssh2 host = mails	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1 source=s	sshd[[5276]: .log s	Failed pas sourcetype =	sword f
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 host = mails	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1 source = s	sshd[ecure.	[1039]: .log	Failed pas sourcetype =	sword f
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 626 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:0 <mark>6</mark> mailsv1	sshd[[5258]:	Failed pas	sword f
		host = mails	ecure_log	source = s	ecure.	log	sourcetype =	securel

Functions

Along with commands, Splunk also provides many in-built functions which can take input from a field being analysed and give the output after applying the calculations on that field. In the below example, we use the **Stats avg()**function which calculates the average value of the numeric field being taken as input.



splunk>	enterprise	/ *			0	4-	Messages	▼ Settir	
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards					
New	Search								
host="w	host="web_application" stats avg(bytes)								
√ 131,645	events (before	10/25/18 6:25	5:14.000 AM) No Even	t San	npling	•		
			≠ doL	11 10	A	÷	¥ ?	Smart Mo	
Events	Patterns	Statistics (1)	Visuali	zation					
20 Per Pa	age 🔻 🖌 Fo	rmat Pre	view 🕶						
avg(bytes) \$								
2178.2865	5965285428								

Clauses

When we want to get results grouped by some specific field or we want to rename a field in the output, we use the **group by** clause and the **as** clause respectively. In the below example, we get the average size of bytes of each file present in the **web_application** log. As you can see, the result shows the name of each file as well as the average bytes for each file.



splunk>enterprise &	A Messages	s 🕶 Settin
Search Datasets Reports Alerts Dashboards		
New Search	Save As 🔻	Close
<pre>host="web_application" stats avg(bytes) by file</pre>	All tim	e • Q
✓ 131,645 events (before 10/25/18 6:32:00.000 AM) Job ▼ 11 ■		
Events Patterns Statistics (30) Visualization		
20 Per Page 🔹 🖌 Format 🛛 Preview 💌	C Prev	2 Next >
file ‡	av	rg(bytes) 🗘 🦯
ADMIN		3406
Admin		3406
account		2119
adm		3406
admin		3406
administration		3406



Splunk already includes the optimization features, analyses and processes your searches for maximum efficiency. This efficiency is mainly achieved through the following two optimization goals:

- **Early Filtering**: These optimizations filter the results very early so that the amount of data getting processed is reduced as early as possible during the search process. This early filter avoids unnecessary lookup and evaluation calculations for events that are not part of final search results.
- **Parallel Processing**: The built-in optimizations can reorder search processing, so that as many commands as possible are run in parallel on the indexers before sending the search results to the search head for final processing.

Analysing Search Optimisations

Splunk has given us tools to analyse how the search optimization works. These tools help us figure out how the filter conditions are used and what is the sequence of these optimisation steps. It also gives us the cost of the various steps involved in the search operations.

Example

Consider a search operation to find the events which contain the words: fail, failed or password. When we put this search query in the search box, the built-in optimizers act automatically to decide the path of the search. We can verify how long the search took to return a specific number of search results and if needed can go on to check each and every step of the optimization along with the cost associated with it.

We follow the path of **Search -> Job -> Inspect Job** to get these details as shown below:



sp	olunk>en	iterprise	<i>↓</i> ▼		0	I∗ 🛛 🛛 🖓 Messages ◄
Se	arch	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards	
N	lew Se	earch				
f	ail* AND	password				All time 🔻 🔍
11	66,272 ev	ents (before	e 11/21/18 4:51	:00.000 PM) No Event Sa	mpling 🔻
			Jo	b 🕶 🔢	• •	🛓 🕴 Smart Mo
Ev	ents (66,2	27 Edit Job	Settings	4	'n	
Fo	ormat Tim	Send Jo	b to Backgro	und	tion	× Deselect
4,500)	Inspect	Job			
3,500)	Delete J	lob			
1,500	, 				1,930 ev	ents during Sunday, Sept
		Sat Sep 2018	o 15		Sat Sep 22	Sat Sep 29
>	Show Fiel	ds Lis	st 🔹 🖌 Fo	ormat	20 Per Page 🕶	< Prev
i	Time		Event			
>	10/15/18	1	Thu Oct 15	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1 ss	shd[5276]: Failed pa
	12:15:06	5.000 AM	3351 ssh2			
			host = mail	secure_log		
>	10/15/18 12:15:06	6.000 AM	Thu Oct 15 3351 ssh2	2018 00:1	5:06 mailsv1 ss	shd[5276]: <mark>Failed</mark> pa
			host = solu	nkhost		

The next screen gives details of the optimization that has occurred for the above query. Here, we need to note the number of events and the time taken to return the result.



Search job inspector			
This search has completed and I (SID: 1542799259.474) <u>search.lo</u>	nas returne <u>9</u>	d 1,000 results by scanning 66,272 events in 3 .	747 seconds
✓ Execution costs			
Duration (seconds)		Component	Invocations
Ι	0.00	command.fields	28
	2.08	command.search	28
1	0.09	command.search.expand_search	2
	0.00	command.search.calcfields	25
	0.00	command.search.expand_search.calcfield	2
1	0.00	command.search.expand_search.fieldaliaser	2
-	0.00	command.search.expand_search.kv	2
-	0.00	command.search.expand_search.lookup	2
	0.00	command.search.expand_search.sourcetype	2

Turning Off Optimization

We can also turn off the in-built optimization and notice the difference in the time taken for the search result. The result may or may not be better than the in-built search. In case it is better, we may always choose this option of turning off the optimization for only this specific search.

In the below diagram, we use the No Optimization command presented as **noop** in the search query.



spl	lunk >enterp	orise	<i>I</i> -			() /*	2 Me	ssages 🕶
Sea	arch Data	sets	Reports	Alerts	Dashbo	oards		
N	ew Sear	ch						
fa	ail* AND pass	word Ino	op search.	_optimiza	tion=false		All time	- Q
√ 6	66,272 events	(before 11/	/21/18 5:28	:57.000 PI	M) No Ev	vent Sam A 😽	pling 🕶	Smart Mod
Eve	ents (66,272)	Edit Job	Settings					
Fo 4,500 3,500	ormat Timelin¢	Send Jo Inspect	b to Backg Job ob	round		T	× Desele	ct
1,500								
		Sat Sep 15 2018			Sat Sep 22			Sat Sep 29
> 5	Show Fields	List -	🖌 🖌 Fo	rmat	20 Per Paç	ge 🔻		< Prev
i	Time	E	vent					
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000	AM 3	hu Oct 15 351 ssh2 ost = mails	2018 00: ecure_log	15:06 mail	lsv1 ssho	I[5276]: F	ailed passw
>	10/15/18 12:15:06.000	AM 3:	hu Oct 15 351 ssh2 ost = solur	2018 00: nkhost	15:06 mail	lsv1 ssho	I[5276]: F	ailed passw

The next screen gives us the result of using no optimization. For this given query, the results come faster without using in-built optimizations.



Search job inspector

This search has completed and has returned 1,000 results by scanning 66,272 events in 1.344 seconds

(SID: 1542801536.478) search.log

Execution costs

Duration (seconds)		Component	Invocations
I	0.00	command.addinfo	30
I	0.00	command.fields	29
	0.74	command.search	29
I	0.03	command.search.expand_search	2
1	0.00	command.search.calcfields	26
1	0.00	command.search.expand_search.calcfield	2
1	0.00	command.search.expand_search.fieldaliaser	2
1	0.00	command.search.expand_search.kv	2
1	0.00	command.search.expand_search.lookup	2



These are the commands in Splunk which are used to transform the result of a search into such data structures which will be useful in representing the statistics and data visualizations.

Examples of Transforming Commands

Following are some of the examples of transforming commands:

- **Highlight** To highlight the specific terms in a result.
- Chart To create a chart out of the search result.
- **Stats** To create statistical summaries from the search result.

Highlight

This command is used to **highlight specific terms in the search result set**. It is used by supplying the search terms as arguments to the highlight function. Multiple search terms are supplied by separating them with comma.

In the below example, we search for the terms, **safari** and **butter** in the result set.





Chart

The **chart** command is a transforming command that returns your results in a table format. The results can then be used to display the data as a chart, such as column, line, area, etc. In the below example, we create a horizontal bar chart by plotting the average size of bytes for each file type.



splunk>enterprise	/*		🚯 🎮	Messages 🕶 Sett
Search Datasets	Reports A	lerts Dashboa	ards	
New Search				
host="web_applicati	on" chart avg	(bytes) <mark>b</mark> y file		
✓ 131,645 events (befor	e 10/25/18 8:28:53	3.000 AM) No E	vent Sam <mark>pli</mark> r	ng 💌
Select visualization		Job 🕶 🔢 🛛	0 đ	± ¶ Smart Mo
Events Patterns	Statistics (30)	Visualization		
F Bar Chart 🖌	Format 🔠 Tre	llis		
jie in the second secon				
0 5,000	10,000 15	.000 20,000	25,000	30,000 35,
			avg(byte	s)

Stats

The Stats command transforms the search result data set into various statistical representations depending on the types of arguments we supply for this command.

In the below example, we use the stats command with count function which is then grouped by another field. Here, we are counting the number of file names created on each week day. The result of the search string come out in a tabular from with rows created for each day.



splunk >enterprise	l .			0	Æ	Messages 🕶	Settir
Search Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	s			
New Search							
host="web_applicatio	n" stats	count <mark>(</mark> file) <mark>by</mark> date_wd	ау		All time 🕶	Q
✓ 131,645 events (before	10/25/18 9:0	0:03.000 A	(M)				
Select visualization		Job	• 11 ml	ð			
Events Patterns	Statistics (7) Visua	lization				
50 Per Page 🔻 🖌 Fo	rmat Pre	eview 🔻					
date_wday ‡						count(fil	e) ‡ 🖌
friday							22775
monday							17754
saturday							16899
sunday							17217
thursday							21541
tuesday							17515
wednesday							17943



13. Splunk – Reports

Splunk reports are results saved from a search action which can show statistics and visualizations of events. Reports can be run anytime, and they fetch fresh results each time they are run. The reports can be shared with other users and can be added to dashboards. More sophisticated reports can allow a drill down function to see underlying events which create the final statistics.

In this chapter, we will see how to create and edit a sample report.

Report Creation

Report creation is a straight forward process where we use the **Save As** option to save the result of a search operation choosing the Reports option. The below diagram shows the **Save As** option.

splunk>enterprise & 🚯	I≁ Messages ▼ Set	tings 🔻
Search Datasets Reports Alerts Dashboards		
New Search	Save As ★ Close	
<pre>host="web_application" stats count(file) by date_wday</pre>	Report	
✓ 131,645 events (before 10/25/18 9:00:03.000 AM) No Event Sε	Dashboard Panel Alert	
Job - II	Event Type	't Mo
Events Patterns Statistics (7) Visualization		
50 Per Page • / Format Preview •		
date_wday ‡	count(file) ‡	1
friday	22775	
monday	17754	
saturday	16899	
sunday	17217	
thursday	21541	
tuesday	17515	
wednesday	17943	



By clicking on the Reports option from the dropdown, we get the next window which asks for additional inputs like the name of the report, the description and choosing the time picker. If we choose the time picker, it allows the time range to be adjusted when we run the report. Below diagrams show how we fill the required details and then click save.

	🕕 🎮 Messages	▼ Settings ▼	Activity *	Help 🔻	Find	8
s Das	Save As Report				×	orting
He) by	Title	Files_By_Week	<day< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>ose</td></day<>			ose
10 AM)	Description	Show the coun	t of files by we	ekday		_
* doL					- 38	
sualizatio	Content	Statistics Tab	le			
	Time Range Picker	Yes		No		
						a) = 1
			Ca	ancel	Save	22775
						17754
						16899

Report Configuration

After clicking save to create the report in the above step, we get the next screen asking for configuring the report as shown below. Here, we can configure the permissions, scheduling the report, etc. We also get an option to go to the next step and add the report to a dashboard.



Splunk

a Dar	Your Repor	t Has Bee	n Created	ĺ		×	orting
ile) by IO AM) Job • sualizatio	You may now vi or continue edit Additional Settin • Permissions • Schedule • Acceleration • Embed	ew your report ing it. ngs: n	, add it to a da	shboard, chang	e additiona	al settings,	Q
		Contin	nue Editing	Add to Dash	board	View	e) * 🖌 22775

If we click on **View** in the above step, we can see the report. We also get configuration options after the report is created.



splunk>enterprise App: Sear •	🚯 Ad	ministr 👻 Messages 👻 Settin
Search Datasets Reports Ale	erts Dashboards	
Files_By_Weekday	Edit - Mor	e Info - Add to Dashboard
All time -	Open in Search Edit Description	
 ✓ 131,645 events (before 10/25/18 9:00:0) 7 results 50 per page ▼ 	Edit Permissions Edit Schedule	॥ ■ 0 ∂ ♣ ±
date_wday \$	Clone	count(file) ‡
friday	Embed	22775
monday	Delete	17754
saturday		16899
sunday		17217
thursday		21541
tuesday		17515
wednesday		17943

Modifying Report Search Option

While we can edit the permissions, schedule, etc., sometimes we need to modify the original search string. This can be done by choosing the **Open in Search** option as given in the above image. That will open the original search option again which we can be edited to a new search. Refer to the below image:



Splunk

splunk>enterprise App: Sear • 🚯 Administr •	Help
Search Datasets Reports Alerts Dashboards	Search & Rep
Files_By_Weekday	
<pre>host="web_application" stats count(file) by date_wday</pre>	All time 🕶 🔍
✓ 131,645 events (before 10/25/18 10:08:00.000 AM) No Event Sampling ▼	
Events Patterns Statistics (7) Visualization	
50 Per Page 🔹 🖌 Format 🛛 Preview 🔹	
date_wday ‡	count(file) ‡ 🖌
friday	22775
monday	17754
saturday	16899
sunday	17217
thursday	21541
tuesday	17515
wednesday	17943



A dashboard is used to represent tables or charts which are related to some business meaning. It is done through panels. The panels in a dashboard hold the chart or summarized data in a visually appealing manner. We can add multiple panels, and hence multiple reports and charts to the same dashboard.

Creating Dashboard

We will continue with the search query from the previous chapter which shows the count of files by week days.

We choose the Visualization tab to see the result as a pie chart. To put the chart on a dashboard, we can choose the option **Save As -> Dashboard Panel** as shown below.





Dashboard	New	Existing		
Dashboard Title	File Invetigation			
Dashboard ID ?	file_invetigation			
	Can only contain letters, number	ers and underscores.		
Dashboard Description	Investigating the properties of the files			
Dashboard Permissions	Private	Shared in App		
Panel Title	Weekly Distribution			
Panel Powered By	Q Inline Search	D Report		
Drilldown ?	No action			
Panel Content	Statistics	C Pie Chart		

The next screen will ask for fillings the details of the dashboard and the panel in it. We fill the screen with details as shown below.

On clicking on Save button, the next screen gives an option to view dashboard. On choosing to view dashboard, we get the following output where we can see the dashboard and options to edit, export or delete.





Adding Panel to Dashboard

We can add a second chart to the dashboard by adding a new panel containing the chart. Below is the bar chart and its query which we are going to add to the above dashboard.



splunk	>enterprise	App: S 🔻		🚯 A	dmin 🔻	Messag	Find Q
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	s	> Sea	rch & Reporting
New	Search					Save A	as ▼ Close
host="	web_applicat	ion" stats av	/g(bytes)	<mark>by</mark> file		Report	c
<mark>√ 1</mark> 31,64	5 events (befo	re 10/25/18 12:14	:20.000 P	M) No Eve	nt Samplinç	Dashboar Alert	rd Panel
Events	Patterns	Statistics (30)	Visu	alization		Event Typ	e .
file							avg{bytes
0	5,000	10,000	15,000	20,000	25,000 avo(bvtes)	30,000	35,000

Next, we fill up the details for the second chart and click $\ensuremath{\textbf{Save}}$ as shown in the below image:



Splunk

Dashboard	New	Existing			
	File Inv	etigation 🕶			
Panel Title	File Average Size				
Panel Powered By ?	Q Inline Search				
Drilldown ?	No action				
Panel Content	I Statistics	F Bar Chart			

Finally, we get the dashboard which contains both the charts in two different panels. As you can see in the image below, we can edit the dashboard to add more panels and you can add more input elements: Text, Radio and Dropdown buttons to create more sophisticated dashboards.



Splunk





Splunk can ingest different types of data sources and build tables which are similar to relational tables. These are called **table dataset** or just **tables**. They provide easy ways to analyse and filter the data and lookups, etc. These table data sets are also used in creating pivot analysis which we learn in this chapter.

Creating a Dataset

We use a Splunk Add-on named **Splunk Datasets Add-on** to create and manage the datasets. It can be downloaded from the Splunk website, <u>https://splunkbase.splunk.com/app/3245/#/details</u>. It has to be installed by following the instructions given in the details tab in this link. On successful installation, we see a button named **Create New Table Dataset**.

splun	k>enterpris	ie / *				0	I ₹	Messages	s 🔹 Settings 🕇
Search	n Dataset	s Reports	Alert	s D	ashboard	ls			
Data Use th	asets e Datasets list	ing page to vie	ew and ma	anage y	our existir	ng dat	Cre asets	ate New Ta Click a data	ble Dataset aset name to viev
contents. Click Pivot to design a visualization-rich report based on the dataset. Click Explore in Search dataset in Search and save it as a new report, alert, or dashboard panel.									
Learn	more about Di	atasets. 🗠							
0 Data	sets		All	Yours	This A	pp's	Fi	Iter by title, (description, fields
i	Title 🔺	Dataset Ty	pe 🌣	÷ \$	Actions			0	wner ‡

Selecting a Dataset

Next, we click on the **Create New Table Dataset** button and it gives us the option to choose from the below three options.

• **Indexes and Source Types** – Choose from an existing index or source type which are already added to Splunk through Add Data app.



- **Existing Datasets** You might have already created some dataset previously which you want to modify by creating a new dataset from it.
- **Search** Write a search query and the result can be used to create a new dataset.

In our example, we choose an index to be our source of data set as shown in the image below:

splunk>enterprise / •				(0	A	Messages 🕶	Settings 🕶
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards				
New 1					Cancel			
			E				Q	
	Indexes & So	Existing Datasets				ed)		
< Back				0	ĸ			
Select one	or more source		Q					
✓ access_co	mbined_wcookie	2						
db_audites	5V							
linux_secu mailsecure	loodata							
securelogs	source							
					~	ou d	o not have an	v indexes or
						s	ource types s	elected.
						Start t	by selecting a prefe source type	erred index and s.

Choosing Dataset Fields

On clicking OK in the above screen, we are presented with an option to choose the various fields we want to finally get into the Table Dataset. The _time field is selected by default and this field cannot be dropped. We choose the fields: **bytes**, **categoryID**, **clientIP** and **files**.


splunk>enterprise A		•	•	Messages 🔻	Settings 🕶
Search Datasets Report	s Alerts Dashboar	ds			
New Table Dataset					Cancel
				Q	
Indexes & Source Typ	es Existing Datasets	5		Search (Advand	ced)
index = main sourcetypes = access_combined_wcook	ie	×	√ 50 e	events (9/12/18 5:0 18 7:10:56.000 AM	5:02.000 AM to 1)
+ Add an index and one or more source	types		Sam	ple: Latest 💌	
Select existing fields			# by	tes	a
Field name		q	2958		^
raw		^	669		
✓ bytes			2223		
 categoryld clientip 			1911		
date_hour date_mday			1130		
date_minute			3833		
date_month		~	3906		
Done			0.05		~
			<		>

On clicking done in the above screen, we get the final dataset table with all the selected fields, as seen below. Here the dataset has become similar to a relational table. We save the dataset with **save as** option available in the top right corner.



splunk>enterprise	<i>↓</i> •			0	A Message	es 🔹 Settings 🔹
Search Datasets	Rep	orts A	Alerts Da	shboards		
New Table Dat	ase	t		Preview R	ows Summar	rize Fields
Commands SPL	1	Edit 🕶	Sort •	Filter •	Clean • S	ummarize 🔹 Add
Initial Data		√ 50 eve	nts (9/12/18 5:0	5:02.000 AM to	10/26/18 1:35:19.000	O PM) Sample: Latest
		*	© _time	# bytes	a catego	IP clientip
		1	2018-10-1 2T23:59:4 5.000+05 :30	2958	TEE	192.188.106.240
		2	2018-10-1 2T23:59:4 3.000+05 :30	2198	ARCADE	212.235.92.150
		3	2018-10-1 2723:59:4 1.000+05: 30	669	null.	212.235.92.150
		4	2018-10-1 2T23:59:3 9.000+05 :30	2223	ARCADE	212.235.92.150
		5	2018-10-1 2723:59:	1911	กมส	192.188.106.240

Creating Pivot

We use the above dataset to create a pivot report. The pivot report reflects aggregation of values of one column with respect to the values in another column. In other words, one columns values are made into rows and another columns values are made into rows.

Choose Dataset Action

To achieve this, we first select the dataset using the dataset tab and then choose the option **Visualize with Pivot** from the Actions column for that data set.



splu	nk >enterprise	4				8	4	Messages	 Settings
Searc	h Datasets	Reports	Ale	rts C	ashboard	s			
Dat	tasets								
Use t conte datas Learn	he Datasets listin ents. Click Pivot to et in Search and more about Dat	ig page to vie o design a visi save it as a n asets. 🛛	w and n ualizatio ew repo	nanage y on-rich re ort, alert,	our existin port based or dashbo	ig dat d on t ard p	asets. he da anel.	Click a data taset. Click E	set name to vi xplore in Sear
1 Data	asets	[All	Yours	This Ap	op's	Fi	lter by title, d	lescription, fiel
i	Title 🔺	Dataset Typ	e ¢	÷ ‡	Actions			Ov	wner ‡
>	Access Co	table		+	Manage	e 🕶 1	Explor	e 🔹 ad	Imin
				Visual	Visualize with Pivot				
					Invest	igate	in Sea	arch	

Choose the Pivot Fields

Next, we choose the appropriate fields for creating the pivot table. We choose category ID in the **split columns** option as this is the field whose values should appear as different columns in the report. Then we choose File in the **Split Rows** option as this is the field whose values should be presented in rows. The result shows count of each categoryid values for each value in the file field.



✓ 131,645 events (be	fore 10/28/18 10:28:	19.000 AM)			
Filters			S	plit Columns	
All time	+		categoryld	+	
Split Rows			С	olumn Values	
ii file	/ +			Count of Acc	+
			/		
file 🗘 🖌 🖌	ACCESSORIES	ARCADE \$	\$	\$HOUTER	SIMULATION
ADMIN	0	0	3	0	0
Admin	0	0	3	0	0
account	0	0	2	0	0
adm	0	0	1	0	0
admin	0	0	2	0	0
administration	0	0	1	0	0
anna_nicole.html	0	0	235	0	0
api	0	0	1	0	0
bdoor	0	0	1	0	0
cart.do	566	747	28341	377	372
category.screen	2793	3750	3062	1834	1775
door	0	0	1	0	0
error.do	0	0	1796	0	0

Next, we can save the pivot table as a Report or a panel in an existing dashboard for future reference.



16. Splunk – Lookups

In the result of a search query, we sometimes get values which may not clearly convey the meaning of the field. For example, we may get a field which lists the value of product id as a numeric result. These numbers will not give us any idea of what kind of product it is. But if we list the product name along with the product id, that gives us a good report where we understand the meaning of the search result.

Such linking of values of one field to a field with same name in another dataset using equal values from both the data sets is called a lookup process. The advantage is, we retrieve the related values from two different data sets.

Steps to Create and Use Lookup File

In order to successfully create a lookup field in a dataset, we need to follow the below steps:

Create Lookup File

We consider the dataset with host as web_application, and look at the productid field. This field is just a number, but we want product names to be reflected in our query result set. We create a lookup file with the following details. Here, we have kept the name of the first field as **productid** which is same as the field we are going to use from the dataset.

```
productId,productdescription
WC-SH-G04,Tablets
DB-SG-G01,PCs
DC-SG-G02,MobilePhones
SC-MG-G10,Wearables
WSC-MG-G10,Usb Light
GT-SC-G01,Battery
SF-BVS-G01,Hard Drive
```

Add the Lookup File

Next, we add the lookup file to Splunk environment by using the Settings screens as shown below:



🚯 Administrat 🕶	Messages	Activity Help Find			
	KNOWLEDGE	DATA			
	Searches, reports, and alerts	Data inputs			
	Data models	Forwarding and receiving			
Add Data	Event types	Indexes			
Add Data	Tags	Report acceleration summaries			
	Fields	Source types			
616	Lookups				
I¢I	User interface	DISTRIBUTED ENVIRONMENT			
Monitoring	Alert actions	Indexer clustering			
Console	Advanced search	Forwarder management			
	All configurations	Distributed search			
	SYSTEM	USERS AND AUTHENTICATION			
	Server settings	Access controls			
	Server controls				
	Health report manager				
	Instrumentation				
	Licensing				
	Workload management				

After selecting the Lookups, we are presented with a screen to create and configure lookup. We select lookup table files as shown below.

splunk>enterprise	Apps 🕶	0	Administr 🕶	Find	٩
Lookups					
Create and configure loo	kups.				
Lookup table files				+ Add	Inow
List existing lookup ta	bles or upload a ne	w file.			Inew
Lookup definitions				+ Add	d new
Edit existing lookup de	efinitions or define a	a new file-base	ed or external looku	Jp.	
Automatic lookups				+ Add	d new
Edit existing automation	c lookups or configu	ure a new look	up to run automatio	cally.	



We browse to select the file **productidvals.csv** as our lookup file to be uploaded and select search as our destination app. We also keep the same destination file name.

splunk>enterprise	Apps 🕶	0	Adm	۲	Messages 🔻	Settings	 Activity
Add new Lookups » Lookup tab	le files » Add n	ew					
Destination app	search						· • ·
Upload a lookup file	Browse						
	Select either a The maximum	a plainte i file siz	ext CSV e that ca	file, a in be	gzipped CSV f uploaded throu	ile, or a KMZ igh the brow	/KML file. vser is 500MB.
Destination filename *	prodcutidval	s.csv					1
	Enter the nam enter a filenar in ".csv". For a	e this lo ne endi KMZ/K	ookup ta ng in ".g ML file, v	ble fi z". lf ve re	le will have on t you are uploadi commend a file	he Splunk s ng a plainte: name endin	erver. If you are up kt CSV file, we rec g in ".kmz"/".kml".
						Cancel	Save

On clicking the save button, the file gets saved to the Splunk repository as a lookup file.

Create Lookup Definitions

For a search query to be able to lookup values from the Lookup file we just uploaded above, we need to create a lookup definition. We do this by again going to **Settings -> Lookups -> Lookup Definition -> Add New.**



splunk>enter	orise Apps -	🚯 Admin 🔻 Help	✓ Find Q
Add new	p definitions » Add new		
Destination app	search		•
Name *	Productid_descriptions		
Type	File-based		×
Lookap inc	Create and manage lookup ta	able files. kup	
	Advanced options		
		Cancel	Save
		Cancel	Save

Next, we check the availability of the lookup definition we added by going to **Settings -> Lookups -> Lookup Definition**.



4•			()	• Me	ssages 🔻	Settings 🕶
ons ^{ns}				Ne	w Lookup D	Definition
lescriptions" i	in search.					
g (s *	Owner	Any			Visible	in the App
Type \$	Suppo	orted fields + ctld,productdes	cription	-	Lookup fil	e 🕈 vals.csv
external	clienti	losi,chentip				
file	countr	y,region_wb,reg	jion_ur	i,subre	geo_attr_	countries.csv
file	state_	name,state_fips	,state_	code	geo_attr_	us_states.csv
geo	None				geo_cour	ntries.kmz
	A Ons iescriptions* i (s * Type * file external file file geo	A DINS Isscriptions" in search. Isscriptions Isscriptions </th <th>Image: Any and Any any and Any a</th> <th>Image: A state_name,state_fips,state_</th> <th>Image: A mark Image: A mark</th> <th>Messages Ons ns tescriptions' in search. a (s * Owner Any Yisible i file productid,productdescription file clienthost,clientip file country,region_wb,region_un,subre geo None geo</th>	Image: Any and Any any and Any a	Image: A state_name,state_fips,state_	Image: A mark Image: A mark	Messages Ons ns tescriptions' in search. a (s * Owner Any Yisible i file productid,productdescription file clienthost,clientip file country,region_wb,region_un,subre geo None geo

Selecting Lookup Field

Next, we need to select the lookup field for our search query. This is done my going to **New search -> All Fields**. Then check the box for **productid** which will automatically add the **productdescription** field from the lookup file also.



Se	elect F	ields			×
S	elect All \	Within Filter Dese	Filter	Q	+ Extract New Fields
i	× •	Field \$	# of Values \$	Event Coverage \$	Type 🌻
>	1	bytes	>100	100%	Number
>		date_wday	7	100%	String
>	1	file	30	100%	String
>	1	host	1	100%	String
>		productId	18	74.49%	String
>		productdescription	18	74.49%	String
>	1	source	1	100%	String
>	1	sourcetype	1	100%	String
>		JSESSIONID	>100	99.6%	String
>		action	5	49.54%	String
>		categoryld	8	43.57%	String
>		clientip	>100	100%	String
>		date_hour	24	100%	Number
>		date_mday	13	100%	Number
>		date_minute	60	100%	Number
>		date_month	2	100%	String

Using the Lookup Field

Now we use the Lookup field in the search query as shown below. The visualization shows the result with productdescription field instead of productid.







17. Splunk – Schedules and Alerts

Scheduling is the process of setting up a trigger to run the report automatically without the user's intervention. Below are the uses of scheduling a report:

- By running the same report at different intervals: monthly, weekly or daily, we can get results for that specific period.
- Improved performance of the dashboard as the reports finish running in the background before the dashboard is opened by the users.
- Sending of reports automatically via email after it finishes running.

Creating a Schedule

A schedule is created by editing the report's schedule feature. We go to the **Edit Schedule** option on the Edit button as shown in the image below.

splunk >enterprise Messages • Se	ettings ▼ Activity ▼ Help ▼ Find Q
Search Datasets Reports Alerts	Search & Reporting
Files_By_Weekday Show the count of files by weekday All time • < 131,645 events (before 10/25/18 2:27:12.000 Job • II I O	Edit • More Info • Add to Dashboard Open in Search Edit Description Edit Permissions Edit Schedule
7 results 20 per page *	Edit Acceleration Clone
date_wday ‡	Embed count(file) \$
friday	Delete 22775
monday	17754
saturday	16899
sunday	17217
thursday	21541
tuesday	17515
wednesday	17943



On clicking the edit schedule button, we get the next screen which lays out all the options for creating the schedule.

In the below example, we take all the default options and the report is scheduled to run every week on Monday at 6 AM.

Edit Schedule		×
A Scheduling this report r	esults in removal of the time picker from the report display.	
Report	Files_By_Weekday	
Schedule Report	Learn More 12	
Schedule	Run every week *	
	On Monday ▼ at 6:00 ▼	
Time Range	All time >	
Schedule Priority ?	Default 🕶	
Schedule Window ?	No window 👻	
Trigger Actions		
	+ Add Actions -	
	Cancel	Save

Important Features of Scheduling

The following are the important features of scheduling:

Time Range – It indicates the time range from which the report must fetch the data. It can be last 15 minutes, last 4 hours or last week etc.

Schedule Priority – If more than one report is scheduled at the same time then this will determine the priority of a specific report.

Schedule Window – When there are multiple report schedules with same priority then we can choose a time window which will help the report to run at anytime during this window. If it is 5 minutes, then the report will run within 5 minutes of its scheduled time.



This helps in enhancing the performance of the scheduled reports by spreading their run time.

Schedule Actions

The schedule actions are meant to take some steps after the report is run. For example, you may want to send an email stating the run status of the report or run another script. Such actions can be carried out by setting the option by clicking on **Add Actions** button as shown below:

splunk>enter	prise A	0	ht.	Messages -	Settings +
Edit Schedu	le				×
	Report Files_By_Weekday				
Schedu	ile Report				
Sched Schedu	 Log Event Send log event to Splunk receiver endpoint Output results to lookup Output the results of the search to a CSV lookup file Output results to telemetry endpoint Custom action to output results to telemetry endpoint Run a script Invoke a custom script 				
Tri 📐	Send email	~			
	+ Add Actions •			Cancel	Save

Alerts

Splunk alerts are actions which get triggered when a specific criterion is met which is defined by the user. The goal of alerts can be logging an action, sending an email or output a result to a lookup file, etc.

Creating an Alert



You create an alert by running a search query and saving its result as an alert. In the below screenshot, we take the search for daywise file count and save the result as an alert by choosing the **Save As** option.

splunk>enterprise	App: Search &	c 🔻	0	Help 🔻	Find	٩
Search Datasets	Reports Al	erts D	ashboards	>	Search & I	Reporting
New Search					Save As 🔻	Close
host="web_applicatio	n" stats coun	t(file) <mark>b</mark>	<mark>y</mark> date_wday	Repor	t oard Panel	a
✓ 131,645 events (before	10/25/18 4:07:08	.000 PM)	No Event Sa	Alert)	3 🕶
Events Patterns	Statistics (7)	Visualiza	tion	Event	Туре	
50 Per Page 🔻 🖌 Fo	rmat Preview	v •				
date_wday ≎					cou	nt(file) 🗘 🖌
friday						22775
monday						17754
saturday						16899
sunday						17217
thursday						21541
tuesday						17515
wednesday						17943

In the next screenshot, we configure the alert properties. The below image shows the configuration screen:



Save As	Aler	t	×
Settings			
Title	Alert	File Size	
Description	Emai	I Alert when the file size report is run	
Permissions		Private	Jui Shared in App
Alert type		Scheduled	Real-time
		Run every	/ week 🕶
Trigger Condi	On	Monday • at 6:00 •	mbar of Doculto
nggeralen	when		
		is greater than 💌	0
Tr	igger	Once	For each result
Thro	ttle ?		
Trigger Actio	ns		
		+ Add Actions *	
			Cancel Save

The purpose and choices of each of these options is explained below:

- **Title**: It is the name of the alert.
- **Description:** It is the detailed description of what the alert does.
- **Permission:** Its value decided who can access, run or edit the alert. If declared private, then only the creator of the alert has all the permissions. To be accessed



by others the option should be changed to **Shared in App**. In this case everyone has read access but only power user has the edit access for the alert.

- **Alert Type:** A scheduled alert runs at a pre-defined interval whose run time is defined by the day and time chosen from the drop downs. But the other option on real-time alert causes the search to run continuously in the background. Whenever the condition is met, the alert action is executed.
- **Trigger condition:** The trigger condition checks for the criteria mentioned in the trigger and sets off the alter only when the alert criteria is met. You can define number of results or number of sources or number of hosts in the search result to trigger the alert. If it is set for once, it will execute only once when the result condition is met but if it is set to **For** each Result, then it will run for every row in the result set where the trigger condition is met.
- **Trigger Actions:** The trigger actions can give a desired output or send an email when the trigger condition is met. The below image shows some of the important trigger actions available in Splunk.



Save As	Alert			×
Settings				
Title	Alert File Size			
Description	Email Alert when the file size repo	ort is rui	1	
Permissions	Private		Shared in App	
Alert type	Scheduled		Real-time	
		Run	every week *	
Trig Add to Add to Cong E Send	On Monday at 6:00 to Triggered Alerts his alert to Triggered Alerts list Event log event to Splunk receiver endpoint ut results to lookup it the results of the search to a CSV lookup		Number of Results •	
Outp Custo endpo	ut results to telemetry endpoint m action to output results to telemetry pint		For each re	sult
Tri 😨 Run a	+ Add Actions •	¥		
			Cancel	ave



18. Splunk – Knowledge Management

Splunk knowledge management is about maintenance of knowledge objects for a Splunk Enterprise implementation.

Below are the **main features of knowledge management:**

- Ensure that knowledge objects are being shared and used by the right groups of people in the organization.
- Normalize event data by implementing knowledge object naming conventions and retiring duplicate or obsolete objects.
- Oversee strategies for improved search and pivot performance (report acceleration, data model acceleration, summary indexing, batch mode search).
- Build data models for Pivot users.

Knowledge Object

It is a Splunk object to get specific information about your data. When you create a knowledge object, you can keep it private or you can share it with other users. The examples of knowledge object are: saved searches, tags, field extractions, lookups, etc.

Uses of Knowledge Objects

On using the Splunk software, the knowledge objects are created and saved. But they may contain duplicate information, or they may not be used effectively by all the intended audience. To address such issues, we need to manage these objects. This is done by classifying them properly and then using proper permission management to handle them. Below are the uses and classification of various knowledge objects:

Fields and field extractions

Fields and field extractions is the first layer of Splunk software knowledge. The fields automatically extracted from the Splunk software from the IT data help bring meaning to the raw data. The manually extracted fields expand and improve upon this layer of meaning.

Event types and transactions

Use event types and transactions to group together interesting sets of similar events. Event types group together sets of events discovered through searches. Transactions are collections of conceptually-related events that span time.

Lookups and workflow actions

Lookups and workflow actions are categories of knowledge objects that extend the usefulness of your data in various ways. Field lookups enable you to add fields to your data from external data sources such as static tables (CSV files) or Python-based



commands. Workflow actions enable interactions between fields in your data and other applications or web resources, such as a WHOIS lookup on a field containing an IP address.

Tags and aliases

Tags and aliases are used to manage and normalize sets of field information. You can use tags and aliases to group sets of related field values together, and to give extracted field tags that reflect different aspects of their identity. For example, you can group events from set of hosts in a particular location (such as a building or city) together by giving the same tag to each host.

If you have two different sources using different field names to refer to same data, then you can normalize your data by using aliases (by aliasing clientip to ipaddress, for example).

Data models

Data models are representations of one or more datasets, and they drive the Pivot tool, enabling Pivot users to quickly generate useful tables, complex visualizations, and robust reports without needing to interact with the Splunk software search language. Data models are designed by knowledge managers who fully understand the format and semantics of their indexed data. A typical data model makes use of other knowledge object types.

We will discuss some of the examples of these knowledge objects in the subsequent chapters.



Subsearch is a special case of the regular search when the result of a secondary or inner query is the input to the primary or outer query. It is similar to the concept of subquery in case of SQL language. In Splunk, the primary query should return one result which can be input to the outer or the secondary query.

When a search contains a subsearch, the subsearch is run first. Subsearches must be enclosed in square brackets in the primary search.

Example

We consider the case of finding a file from web log which has maximum byte size. But that may vary every day. Then we want to find only those events where the file size is equal to the maximum size, and is a Sunday.

Create the Subsearch

We first create the subsearch to find the maximum file size. We use the function **Stat max** with the field named bytes as the argument. This identifies the maximum size of the file for the time frame for which the search query is run.

The below image shows the search	and the result of this subsearch:
----------------------------------	-----------------------------------

splunk>	enterprise	/-			6	4-	Messa	ages 🔻	Settings 🔻
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashb	oards				
New S	Search				S	ave As	• N	lew Table	e Close
host="we	eb_applicatio max(bytes) a	on" s bytes						All tin	ne • Q
✓ 131,645	events (before	10/31/18 6:13	:16.000 PM) No E	vent Sar	npling •			
				Job 🕶	11 1	ð	ð	*	Smart Mo
Events	Patterns	Statistics (1)	Visua	ization					
50 Per Pa	ige 🔹 🖌 Fo	rmat Pre	view 🔻						
bytes \$									
47251									



Adding the Subsearch

Next, we add the subsearch query to the primary or the outer query by putting the subsearch inside square brackets. Also the search clause is added to the subsearch query.





As we see, the result contains only the events where the file size is equal to the max file size found by considering all the events, and the event day is a Sunday.



Search macros are reusable blocks of Search Processing Language (SPL) that you can insert into other searches. They are used when you want to use the same search logic on different parts or values in the data set dynamically. They can take arguments dynamically and the search result will be updated as per the new values.

Macro Creation

To create the search macro, we go to the **Settings -> Advanced Search -> Search Macros -> Add New**. This brings up the below screen where we start creating the macro.

splunk>er	nterpri	ise 4					• 1	Mes	sages 👻 🖇
Add ne	w								
Advanced se	earch »	Search m	acros » Ac	dd new					
Destination	арр	search							•
Name *	Enter t this by For ex	he name appendir ample: my	of the mac ng the num ymacro(2)	cro. If the	e search argume	n macro ents to th	takes an 1e name.	argume	nt, indicate
Definition *	Enter search For ea	the string h. If argun xample: \$	the search nents are arg1\$	h macro includeo	expanc d, enclo	ls to wh se then	en it is ref 1 in dollar	erenced signs. I	in another
Arguments	Enter conta	e eval-ba a comma ain alphan	sed definit a-delimited umeric, '_'	tion? I string c ' and '-' a	of argun charact	nent nar ers.	nes. Argu	ment na	 mes may only
Validation Ex	pressio	on Enter	an eval or	r boolea	an expre	ession th	iat runs o	ver macr	o arguments.
Validation Er	ror Me	ssage En	ter a mess	sage to c	display	when th	e validatio	on expre	ssion returns
						C	ancel		Save



Macro Scenario

We want to show various stats about the file size from the **web_applications** log. The stats are about max, min and avg value of the filesize using the bytes field in the log. The result should display these stats for each file listed in the log.

So here the type of the stats is dynamic in nature. The name of the stats function will be passed as an argument to the macro.

Defining the Macro

Next, we define the macro by setting various properties as shown in the below screen. The name of the macro contains (1), indicating that there is one argument to be passed into the macro when it is used in the search string. **fun** is the argument which will be passed on to the macro during execution in the search query.



splunk >er	nterpri	ise	/ *				(Ð	/ *	Messages 🔻 🖇
Add ne	w									
Advanced s	earch »	Search r	nacros » /	Add nev	v					
Destination	арр	search	i							٣
Name *	Enter t this by For ex	he name append ample: n	of the ma ing the nu nymacro(2	acro. If ti imber c ?)	he searc of argum	:h mac ents to	cro tal o the	kes a nam	an ai e.	rgument, indicate
	filesi	ze(1)								
Definition *	Enter searc For e	the string h. If argu xample: 9	g the sear ments are \$arg1\$	ch macr includ	o expan ed, encl	ds to v ose th	when iem in	it is I doll	refei lar si	renced in another gns.
	stat	s \$fun\$((bytes) b	y file	80.00					
	🗌 Us	e eval-ba	ased defir	nition?						
Arguments	Enter conta	r a comm ain alpha	a-delimite numeric, '	ed string _' and '	g of argu -' charac	ment i ters.	name	s. Ar	gum	ent names may only
	fun									
Validation Ex	pressio	on Ente	r an eval	or boole	ean expr	essior	n that	runs	ove	r macro arguments.
Validation Er	ror Me	ssage E	nter a me	ssage to	o display	when	n the v	alida	ation	expression returns
							Can	icel		Save



Using the Macro

To use the macro, we make it a part of the search string. On passing different values for the argument we see different results as expected.

Consider finding the average size in bytes of the files. We pass avg as the argument and get the result as shown below. The macro has been kept under $\hat{}$ sign as part of the search query.

splunk>	enterprise	4-		(• 0	Messages 🔻
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards		
New	Search					
host="w	eb_applicatio	on" `filesi	ze(avg)`			
✓ 48,444 No Eve	events (10/2/18 ent Sampling •	3 12:00:00.000 Jo	D AM to 11/1	/18 10:37:50.000) PM) 业	
Events	Patterns	Statistics (30	0) Visu	alization		
50 Per Pa	age 🔹 🖌 Fo	ormat Pre	view •			
file ‡						avg(bytes) 🗘 🖌
ADMIN						3406
Admin						3406
account						2119
adm						3406
admin						3406
administ	ration					3406
anna_nico	ole.html				1990	78888888888888
api						1456
bdoor						3406
cart.do					208	3.075435525548



Similarly, if we want the maximum file size for each of the files present in the log, then we use **max** as the argument. The result is as shown below.



In Splunk search, we can design our own events from a dataset based on certain criteria. For example, we search for only the events which have a http status code of 200. This event now can be saved as an event type with a user defined name as **status200** and use this event name as part of future searches.

In short, an event type represents a search that returns a specific type of event or a useful collection of events. Every event that can be returned by the search gets an association with that event type.

Creating Event Type

There are two ways to create an event type after we have decided the search criteria. One is to **run a** search and then save it as an Event Type. Another is to **add a new Event Type from the settings tab**. We will see both the ways of creating it in this section.

Using a Search

Consider the search for the events which have the criteria of successful http status value of 200 and the event type run on a Wednesday. After running the search query, we can choose **Save As** option to save the query as an Event Type.



4-			4 B	Messa	ges 🕶	Setting	s 🕶	Activity
Rep	orts Alert	s Dashboard	ls					
New	Search					Sa	ve As •	•
host=	"web_applicat	tion" status=20	0 date_wd	ay="Wedne	sday"	Report	rd Dan	ol
12:00:0	0.000 AM to 1	1/4/18 1:53:47.000	PM) N	lo Event S	amplir	Alert	rd Pane	el
	Job 🕈	II 🔳 ð	9 7	9 Sm	art Me	Event Ty	pe	
terns	Statistics	Visualization						
— Zo	om Out +	Zoom to Selection	on × C)eselect				
_								
Oct 8		Mon Oct 15			Mon O	ct 22		
ist 🕶	/ Format	20 Per Page		<	Prev	1 2	3	4 5
Even	t							
88.19 HTTP el Ma	91.83.82 1.1" 200 383 ac OS X 10_7_	[10/Oct/2018:23 5 "http://www.b 4) AppleWebKit/	:57:34] " outtercupg 536.5 (KF	'GET /proc games.com/ ITML, like	duct.sc /catego e Gecko	reen?proc ory.screer) Chrome/	ductId= n?categ /19.0.1	=MB-AG-T goryId=T 1084.46
bytes host	s = 3835 da = web_applica	te_hour = 23	date_mda d = MB-AG	y = 10 5-T01 sc	date_w ource =	day = <mark>weo</mark> access_3	dnesda ODAY.k	y file og sta
88.19 F4953 (Maci	91.83.82 3 HTTP 1.1" 2 intosh: Intel	[10/Oct/2018:23 00 1569 "http:/ Mac OS X 10 7	:57:15] ' /www.butt 4) AppleV	'GET /cart ercupgame /ebKit/536	t.do?ac es.com/ 5.5 (KH	tion=view cart.do?a	v&produ action=	uctId=MB =view≺ o) Chrom
bytes host	a = 1569 da = web_applica	te_hour = 23	date_mda d = MB-AG	y = 10 c G07 s	date_wo	day = wed access_3	Inesday BODAY.	y file = log st
		_			-			

The next screen prompts to give a name for the Event Type, choose a Tag which is optional and then choose a colour with which the events will be highlighted. The priority option



decides which event type will be displayed first in case two or more event types match the same event.

Name	successful_wed
Tags	Optional
Color	purple 🔻
Priority	1 (Highest) 💌
	Determines which style wins, when an event has more than one event type.
	Cancel

Finally, we can see the Event Type has been created by going to the **Settings -> Event Types** option.

Using New Event Types

The other option to create a new Event Type is to use the **Settings -> Event Types** option as shown below where we can add a new Event Type:



splunk>enterprise	<i>[</i> ≁.	جا 🚯	Message	es ▼ Se
Event types		Ne	ew Event Ty	pe
App Search & Reportin	g (s * Owner Any		• Vi	sible in the
Name 🕈	Search string +	Tag(s) 🕈	Owner 🕈	App 🕈
internal_search_terms	("After evaluating args" OR "Before evaluating args" OR "context dispatched for search=" OR "SearchParser -		No owner	system

On clicking the button **New Event Type,** we get the following screen to add the same query as in the previous section.



splunk>enterp	orise	Apps 🕶	6	Admini	•	Messages	 Setting 	js 🔻
Add new								
Event types » Add	new							
Destination App	searc	:h						*
Name *	succe	ssful_wed						
Search string *	host="web_application" status=200 date_wday="Wednesday"							
Tag(s)								
	Enter a	comma-sepa	rated list	of tags.				
Color	purpl	e						*
Priority	1 (Hig	jhest)						
	Highest	t priority show	/s up firs	t in a resu	lt.			
					C	ancel	Save	
						ancel	Save	

Viewing the Event Type

To view the event we just created above, we can write the below search query in the search box and we can see the resulting events along with the colour we have chosen for the event type.



spl	unk>enterprise	<i>k</i> ≠		🚯 🕂 Messages 🔻			
Sea	arch Datasets	Reports Alert	s Dashboards				
N	ew Search		Save As 🕶	New Table Close			
ev	venttype="successf	ul_wed"	Pr	revious month • Q			
√7	,442 events (10/1/18	12:00:00.000 AM to 1 Job *	1/1/18 12:00:00.000	AM) No Event Samplin			
Eve	ents (7,442) Pat	terns Statistics	Visualization				
Fo	ormat Timeline 💌	- Zoom Out +	Zoom to Selection	× Deselect			
4,000 3,000							
2,000							
201210	Mon Oct 1 2018	Mon Oct	8	Mon Oct 15			
> 5	Show Fields L	ist 🔹 🖌 Format	20 Per Page 🔻	< Prev			
i	Time	Event					
2	10/10/18 88.191.83.82 [10/Oct/2018:23:57:34] "GET /product.s 11:57:34.000 PM HTTP 1.1" 200 3835 "http://www.buttercupgames.com/categel el Mac OS X 10_7_4) AppleWebKit/536.5 (KHTML, like Gecke) bytes = 3835 date_hour = 23 date_mday = 10 date_vechest = web_application						
>	10/10/18 11:57:15.000 PM	88.191.83.82 F4953 HTTP 1.1" 2 (Macintosh; Intel bytes = 1569 da host = web_applica	[10/Oct/2018:23:5 00 1569 "http://w Mac OS X 10_7_4) te_hour = 23 da ation productId =	57:15] "GET /cart.do?ac www.buttercupgames.com/ AppleWebKit/536.5 (KH te_mday = 10 date_wo MB-AG-G07 source =			



Using the Event Type

We can use the Event type along with other queries. Here we specify some partial criteria from the Event Type and the result is a mix of events which shows the coloured and non-coloured events in the result.

N	ew Search		Save As 🕶	New Table Close		
h	ost="web_applicat	ion" file=cart.do date	_wday="wednesday"	Last 30 days 👻 🔍		
12	2,020 events (10/1/1	8 12:00:00.000 AM to 11/1 Job •	/18 12:00:00.000 AM) No Event Sampling		
Eve	ents (2,020) Pa	atterns Statistics	Visualization			
Fo	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out + Zo	oom to Selection	× Deselect		
1,200 800		-	-			
400						
	Mon Oct 1 2018	Mon Oct 8	1.00	Mon Oct 15		
> 5	Show Fields	List 🔹 🖌 Format	20 Per Page 🔻	< Prev		
i	Time	Event				
>	10/10/18 11:22:53.000 PM	87.194.216.51 [10/Oct/2018:23:22:53] "GET /cart.do?act F5ADFF4953 HTTP 1.1" 200 2877 "http://www.buttercupgames.c zilla/5.0 (Windows; U; Windows NT 5.1; en-US; rv:1.9.2.28) 0729; .NET4.0C)" 333				
		bytes = 2877 date_ host = web_application	_hour = 23 date_r n productId = ME	nday = 10 date_wda 8-AG-G07 source = a		
>	10/10/18 11:22:48.000 PM	194.8.74.23 [10 20 "http://www.butto ebKit/536.5 (KHTML, bytes = 720 date_l host = web_application	/Oct/2018:23:22:48 ercupgames.com/cate like Gecko) Chrome hour=23 date_m on source=acces] "GET /cart.do?actic egory.screen?category e/19.0.1084.46 Safari day = 10 date_wday ss_30DAY.log status		
2	10/10/18 11:22:33.000 PM	194.8.74.23 [10 4963 HTTP 1.1" 200 indows NT 6.1; WOW6 bytes = 628 date_ bost = web application	/Oct/2018:23:22:33 628 "http://www.bu 4) AppleWebKit/536 hour = 23 date_m	GET /cart.do?actic ttercupgames.com/cart .5 (KHTML, like Geckc day = 10 date_wday		



22. Splunk – Basic Chart

Splunk has great visualization features which shows a variety of charts. These charts are created from the results of a search query where appropriate functions are used to give numerical outputs.

For example, if we look for the average file size in bytes from the data set named web_applications, we can see the result in the statistics tab as shown below:

splunk>	enterprise	<i>!</i> ~			() /*	Messages 🔻
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards		
New S	Search					
host="we	eb_applicatio	on" chart a	avg(bytes)	by file		
✓ 131,645 events (before 11/4/18 3:48:00.000 PM) No Event Sampling ▼						
		Jo	b▼ II	II > 5	<u>+</u>	Smart Mod
Events	Patterns	Statistics (30	0) Visu	alization		
50 Per Page 🔻 🖌 Format Preview 💌						
file \$					ł	avg(bytes) ‡ 🖌
ADMIN						3406
Admin						3406
account						2119
adm						3406
admin						3406
administr	ation					3406
anna nico	ole.html				2102	.876595744681


Creating Charts

In order to create a basic chart, we first ensure that the data is visible in the statistics tab as shown above. Then we click on the Visualization tab to get the corresponding chart. The above data produces a pie chart by default as shown below.

splunk>	enterprise	<i>⊧</i> •			0	4-	Messages 🔻
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashbcar	ds		
New	Search						
host="w	eb_applicatio	n" chart	avg(bytes)	by file			
√ 131,645	events (before	11/4/18 7:39:	18.000 PM)	No Event	Samp	iling 🕶	
			Job 🔻 🛛		ð	Ŧ	Smart Mo
Events	Patterns	Statistics (3	0) Visu	alization			
e Pie	Chart 🖌 F	ormat 88	Trellis				
		ISTS					- ADMIN
	us	ers					Admin
	use	sor					adm
	success	.do					admin
	signals	zip					administration
	show	do					anna_nicole.html
	search	.do			-		bdoor
	productscreen.l	ntml //					category.screen
	product.scr	een /					door
		No.					letmein
							logo.ico
	passwords.	pdf			/	_	manage
			-			\	management
					1		oldlink



Changing the Chart Type

We can change the chart type by selecting a different chart option from the chart name. Clicking on one of these options will produce the chart for that type of graph.





Formatting a Chart

The charts can also be formatted by using the Format option. This option allows to set the values for the axes, set the legends or show the data values in the chart. In the below example, we have chosen the horizontal chart and selected the option to show the data values as a Format option.

splunk>enter	rprise	<i>⊧</i> •			() 4	+ Messag	es 🕶 S
Search Dat	tasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboa	rds		
New Sea	rch						
host="web_app	plicatio	n" char	t avg(bytes)	by file			
✓ 131,645 event Events Patt	s (before	11/4/18 7:3 Statistics	9:18.000 PM) Job ▼ I (30) Visu	No Even	t Samplin د 🖶 د	g▼ Ł ¶Si	mart Mode
F Bar Chart	≠ Fe	ormat	88 Trellis				
3,406			-	*******	******		
2,119 3,406 3,406	Gene	ral	Stack	Mode	ali	đ	50
2,102,876 1,456 3,406	X-Axi	S	Multi-series	Mode	Yes		No
2,091,966 2,113,5878 3,406 2,087,972	Y-Axi	5	Show	Data	Off	On	Min/Ma
≝ <u>2.0</u> 98.615	Chart		v	diues			
- 3,406 3,406 2,090,1414 2,103,934	Overl	ау					
2,095.994 2,031.5420 1,907.728	Leger	nd					
2,158.528 2,010.6731 2,097.430 2,567 3911452991452 2,567 2,567	888888888 707317072 699213901 9913	3					
0 5,00	00	10,000	15,000	20,000	25,0 avg(b	00 30,0 ytes)	000



Many times, we need to put one chart over another to compare or see the trend of the two charts. Splunk supports this feature through the chart overlay feature available in its visualization tab. To create such a chart, we need to first make a chart with two variables and then add a third variable which can create the overlay chart.

Chart Scenario

Continuing the examples from previous chapter, we find out the byte size of the files on different week days and then also add the average byte size for those days. The below image shows the chart showing the byte size versus average byte size of files on different days of the week.





Next, we are going to add the statistical function called standard deviation to the above search query. This will bring the additional variable needed to create the chart overlay. The below image shows the statistics of the query result which will be used in the visualization.



splunk>enterprise	4		0	I ← Message	s •
Search Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards		
New Search			Save As 🔻	New Table	Close
host="web_applicat stats count(bytes)	ion" avg(bytes) st	dev(bytes) <mark>by</mark> date_wday	All time 🔻	Q
✓ 131,645 events (befo	re 11/5/18 8:36:5	56.000 AM Job •) No Event Samp II ■ → ♣	ling ▼ 业 ¶ Sr	nart Moo
Events Patterns	Statistics (7)	Visua	lization		
50 Per Page 🔹 🖌 I	Format Pre	view 🔻			
date_wday \$ cou	nt(bytes) 🗘 🖌		avg(bytes) 🗘 🖌	stdev(byte	es) 🌲 🖌
friday	22775	2	159.2494840834247	2016.6553106	950907
monday	17754	2	160.1039202433253	2076.110516	511169
saturday	16899		2169.882359902953	2107.12103	664981
sunday	17217	2	207.1629784515303	2386.1347734	331075
thursday	21542		2188.988580447498	2357.4705135	356016
tuesday	17515	;	2186.973222951756	2240.1489907	775485
wednesday	17943	2	179.3207378922143	2200.784409	479441

Creating Chart Overlay

To create the chart overlay, we follow Visualization -> Format -> Chart Overlay

This brings up a pop-up window where we need to choose the field which will be the overlay chart. In this case, we choose stdev(bytes) as the field as shown in the image below. We can also fill in other values: title, scale and their intervals, minimum values, maximum values, etc. For our example, we choose the default values after selecting the field for the overlay option.



splunk>enterpris	ie 🖊			<i>.</i> / . ≁	Messages 🕶		
Search Dataset	s Reports	Alerts [Dashboards				
New Search	ı						
host="web_applics stats count(bytes	ation" s) avg(bytes) std	ev(bytes) b	y date_wday				
✓ 131,645 events (be	fore 11/5/18 8:36:56	5.000 AM)	No Event San	npling 🔻			
	1	lob 🔻 🛛 🕅		¥	Smart Mo		
Events Patterns	Statistics (7)	Visualiza	tion				
al Column Chart	✓ Format	## Trellis					
					×		
General	Overlay	× stdev(bytes)					
X-Axis	View as Axis	Or		Off			
Y-Axis	Title		Default 🔻				
Chart Overlay	Scale	Inherit	Linear		Log		
Legend	Interval	optional					
	Min Value	optional					
	Max Value	optional					
	Number	Of	f	On	y		

After selecting the above options, we can close the chart overlay pop-up window and see the final chart as shown below:







24. Splunk – Sparklines

A sparkline is a small representation of some statistical information without showing the axes. It generally appears as a line with bumps just to indicate how certain quantity has changed over a period of time. Splunk has in-built function to create sparklines from the events it searches. It is a part of the chart creation function.

Selecting the Fields

We need to select the field and the search formula which will be used in creating the sparkline. The below image shows the average byte size values of the some of the files in the web_application host.

splunk>enterprise	I ™			0	4	Messa	ges 🔻
Search Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	ds			
New Search							
host="web_applicati chart avg(bytes)	on" <mark>by</mark> file				A	II time 🔻	Q
√ 52,881 events (10/1/18	3 12:00:00.000	0 AM to 11/1/	18 12:00:00.0	000 AN	1)	No Even	t Samplir
		Job 👻 🛛 🕄		ð	*	• S	mart Mo
Events Patterns	Statistics (3	i 0) Visu	alization				
50 Per Page 🔻 🖌 F	ormat Pre	eview 🔻					
file \$					а	vg(bytes)	÷ /
product.screen				2	2095.	99464492	218037
productscreen.html				2	2031.	54201680	67226
search.do						190	7.728
show.do					2158	. 5288888	88889
signals.zip				2	2010.	67317073	817074
success.do				2	2097.	43069921	39013
usen							2567
userlist				З	91.1	45299145	529913
users							2567



Creating the Sparkline

To create the Sparklines from above statistics, we add the Sparkline function to the search query as shown in the image below. The table view of the above statistics now starts displaying the sparklines for average byte size of those files. Here, we have taken **All Time** as the time period for calculating the variation in average byte size of files. If we change this time period, then the nature of the graphs will change.

splunk>	enterprise	4		6	•4 (Messages 🕶
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards		
New S	Search					
host="we	eb_applicatio sparkline av	n" g(bytes) <mark>b</mark>	<mark>y fil</mark> e		AI	I time • Q
√ 131,645	events (before	11/6/18 7:53: J	48.000 AM)	No Event San	npling •	Smart Moo
Events	Patterns	Statistics (3	0) Visu	alization		
50 Per Pa	ige 🔻 🖌 Fo	rmat Pre	eview 🔻			
file ‡ product.sc	reen	spark	line \$; av	vg(bytes) \$ 🖌
productscr	een.html	~~~~	m		2031.5	5420168067226
search.do		m	m			1907.728
show.do		~~~~	m		2158	528888888889
signals.zi	p	~~~~	M		2010.0	5731707317074
success.do					2097.4	4306992139013
user						2567
userlist					391.14	4529914529913
users		1				2567
usrs						2567



Changing the Time Period

If we change the time period for the above graph from All Time to Last 30 days, we will see the sparklines to be little different as shown below. Here we need to note, how few file names have vanished from the list as those files were not available in that time period.

splunk >er	nterprise	<i>k</i> •			0	4	Messages 🔻
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	ls		
New Se	earch				C		
host="web chart s	_applicatio parkline av	n" g(bytes) <mark>b</mark>	<mark>y</mark> file		La	ast 30	days • Q
✓ 131,645 ev	vents (before	11/6/18 7:53:	48.000 AM)	No Event	: Samp	oling 🔻	
		-	lob 👻 🛛 II	■ <i>∂</i>	0	<u>+</u>	Smart Moo
Events	Patterns	Statistics (3	0) Visu	alization			
50 Per Pag	e▼ ∕Fo	rmat Pre	eview 🔻				
file ‡		/ spark	line \$;	av	g(bytes) 🗘 🖌
product.scre	en	-1			-	2100.4	535608308606
productscree	en.html	\sim				1748.	111111111111
search.do		~			1	1942.6	66666666666
show.do		M			1	2096.5	925925925926
signals.zip		M				2098.	512195121951
success.do		~			1	2090.6	297250859106
userlist		Λ					169



25. Splunk – Managing Indexes

Indexing is a mechanism to speed up the search process by giving numeric addresses to the piece of data being searched. Splunk indexing is similar to the concept of indexing in databases. The installation of Splunk creates three default indexes as follows.

- **main**: This is Splunk's default index where all the processed data is stored.
- **Internal**: This index is where Splunk's internal logs and processing metrics are stored.
- **audit**: This index contains events related to the file system change monitor, auditing, and all user history.

The Splunk Indexers create and maintain the indexes. When you add data to Splunk, the indexer processes it and stores it in a designated index (either, by default, in the main index or in the one that you identify).

Checking Indexes

We can have a look at the existing indexes by going to **Settings -> Indexes** after logging in to Splunk. The below image shows the option.



🚯 Adm 🕶	Messages	tivity - Help - Find				
[]	KNOWLEDGE	DATA				
	Searches, reports, and alerts	Data inputs				
((+)	Data models	Forwarding and receiving				
1000000000	Event types	Indexes				
Add Data	Tags	Report acceleration summaries				
	Fields	Source types				
616	Lookups					
101	User interface	DISTRIBUTED ENVIRONMENT				
Monitoring	Alert actions	Indexer clustering				
Console	Advanced search	Forwarder management				
	All configurations	Distributed search				
	SYSTEM	USERS AND AUTHENTICATION				
	Server settings	Access controls				
	Server controls					
	Health report manager					
	Instrumentation					
	Licensing					
	Workload management					

On further clicking on the indexes, we can see the list of indexes Splunk maintains for the data that is already captured in Splunk. The below image shows such a list.



splunk>enter	prise A	pps 🕶		🚯 Admi 🕶 I	Messages 🔻 S						
Indexes A repository for	Indexes A repository for data in Splunk Enterprise. Indexes reside in flat files on the Splunk Enterprise										
9 Indexes		filter		Q							
Name 📩	Actions	Type ‡	App ‡	Current Size \$	Max Size ‡						
_audit	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	14 MB	488.28 GB						
_internal	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	227 MB	488.28 GB						
_introspecti on	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	370 MB	488.28 GB						
_telemetry	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	1 MB	488.28 GB						
_thefishbuck et	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	1 MB	488.28 GB						
history	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	1 MB	488.28 GB						
main	Edit Delete Disable	Events	system	36 MB	488.28 GB						

Creating a New Index

We can create a new index with desired size by the data that is stored in Splunk. The additional data that comes in can use this newly created index but better search functionality. The steps to create an index is **Settings -> Indexes -> New Index**. The



General Settings						
Index Name	INDX_WEB_APP					
	Set Index name (e.g., INDEX_NAME). Search using in	dex=INDEX_NAME.				
Index Data Type	E Events	Ø Metrics				
	The type of data to store (event-based or metrics).					
Home Path	optional					
Hot/warm db path. Leave blank for default (\$SPLUNK_DB/INDEX_NAME/db).						
Cold Path	optional					
	Cold db path. Leave blank for default (\$SPLUNK_DB/INDEX_NAME/colddb).					
Thawed Path	optional					
	Thawed/resurrected db path. Leave blank for default	(\$SPLUNK_DB/INDEX_NAME/thaweddb).				
a Integrity Check	Enable	Disable				
	Enable this if you want Splunk to compute hashes on tegrity.	every slice of your data for the purpose of data in-				
e of Entire Index	100	GB ▼				
	Maximum target size of entire index.					
Max Size of	auto	GB ▼				
arm/Cold Bucket	Maximum target size of buckets. Enter 'auto_high_volume' for high-volume indexes.					
Frozen Path	optional					

below screen appears where we mention the name of the index and memory allocation etc.

Indexing the Events

After creating the index above we can configure the events to be indexed by this specific index. We choose the event type. Use the path **Settings -> Data Inputs -> Files & Directories.** Then we choose the specific file of the events which we want to attach to the newly created event. As you can see in the below image, we have assigned the index named **index_web_app** to this specific file.



splunk >e	nterprise	e Apps 🕶	🚯 Ad	ministrator 🔻	Messages 🔻	Settings 🕶
\$SPLU	JNK_H s » Files &	HOME\var\ directories * \$SP	log\splu	nk ar\log\splunk		
You can tel (keep index	l Splunk to ting data a	continuously coll s it comes in), or i	ect data from a ndex a static fil	a file or directo e and then sto	rv ip.	
Host						
Tell Splunk	how to se	t the value of the	host field in yo	ur events from	this source.	
Set host	constan	t value				*
	Specify me	ethod for getting I	nost field for ev	ents coming fr	om this source.	
Host field v	alue lo	calhost				
Source typ	be					
Set the sou	rce type	Automatic				
Index						
Set the des	tination in	dex for this source	ð.			
	Index	indx_web_app]			*
Advanced	options					
White	list					1
	Spec	ify a regex that fil	es from this so	urce must mat	ch to be monitore	ed by Splunk.
Black	ist					
	Speci	fy a regex that file	es from this sou	irce must NOT	match to be mor	nitored by Splunk
					Cancel	Save



Many times, we will need to make some calculations on the fields that are already available in the Splunk events. We also want to store the result of these calculations as a new field to be referred later by various searches. This is made possible by using the concept of calculated fields in Splunk search.

A simplest example is to show the first three characters of a week day instead of the complete day name. We need to apply certain Splunk function to achieve this manipulation of the field and store the new result under a new field name.

Example

The Web_application log file has two fields named bytes and date_wday. The value in the bytes field is the number of bytes. We want to display this value as GB. This will require the field to be divided by 1024 to get the GB value. We need to apply this calculation to the bytes field.

Similarly, the date_wday displays complete name of the week day. But we need to display only the first three characters.

The existing values in these two fields is shown in the image below:



sp	lunk>enterpris	e /•			•	Messa	ges 🔹	Setting	s▼ A
Sea	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards					
N	ew Search	K			Sa	ve As 🔻	New Ta	ble	Close
ho	st="web_applica	tion"					Last 30 da	ays 🕶	Q
v 1	8,194 events (10/9	/18 12:00:00.00	0 AM to 11/8	/18 8:20:44.00	D AM)	No Event	Sampling	•	
				Job 🕶	0	A 6	Ŧ	• Sr	mart Moc
Eve	ents (18,194) F	Patterns Sta	tistics	Visualization					
Fo	rmat Timeline -	- Zoom O	ut + Zo	om to Selection	i ×1	Deselect			
6,000									
4,000									
2,000									
		Mon 2018	Oct 15		Mon Oct	22		Mo	on Oct 29
> :	Show Fields	List 🔻 🖌 F	ormat	20 Per Page 🔻		5	Prev 1	2	3
i	Time	Event							
>	10/12/18 11:59:45.000 PM	192.188.10 TTP 1.1" 2 WOW64) App bytes = 29	06.240 200 2958 "h DleWebKit/5 58 date_	[12/Oct/2018: ttp://www.but 36.5 (KHTML, wday = friday	23:59:45 tercupga like Geo host=	5] "GET /(ames.com/(cko) Chror web_app	category. category. me/19.0.1 Plication	screen? screen? 084.46 status	categor categor Safari/ = 200
>	10/12/18 11:59:43.000 PM	212.235.92 G07&JSESSI tegoryId=/ , like Geo	2.150 [ONID=SD4SL RCADE∏ ko) Versio	12/Oct/2018:2 6FF7ADFF4963 uctId=MB-AG-G n/5.1 Mobile/	3:59:43 HTTP 1.1 07" "Moz 9B206 Sa] "POST /: " 503 219 zilla/5.0 afari/7534	success.do 98 "http: (iPad; Cl 4.48.3" 9	o?actic //www.b PU OS 5 26	on=purch outtercu 5_1_1 li

Using the eval Function

To create calculated field, we use the eval function. This function stores the result of the calculation in a new field. We are going to apply the below two calculations:

```
# divide the bytes with 1024 and store it as a field named byte_in_GB
Eval byte_in_GB = (bytes/1024)
```



```
# Extract the first 3 characters of the name of the day.
```

```
Eval short_day=substr(date_wday,1,3)
```

Adding New Fields

We add new fields created above to the list of fields we display as part of the search result. To do this, we choose **All fields** options and tick check mark against the name of these new fields as shown in below image:

spl	unkò						Settings +
Set	Se	elect F	ields				×
N	S	elect All V	Within Filter	Deselect All	Coverage: 1%	or more *	
he	i	× -	Field \$	# of Values \$	Event Coverage 🔅	Type ‡	^
0	>		byte_in _GB	>100	100%	Number	- 8
Ĩ	>		host	1	100%	String	
Eve	>		short_d ay	4	100%	String	
En	>		status	9	100%	Number	- 88
	>		JSESSI ONID	>100	99.81%	String	- 8
	>		action	5	49.66%	String	- 88
	>		bytes	>100	100%	Number	- 18
10	>		date_y ear	1	100%	Number	753- 10

Displaying the calculated Fields

After choosing the fields above, we are able to see the calculated fields in the search result as shown below. The search query displays the calculated fields as shown below:



spl	unk>enterprise	1-				D /	~ 1	Mess	ages 🔻	Set	tings -	ŝ
Sea	r ch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashb	oards							
Ne	ew Search					S	ave As	÷	New	Table	Clo	se
ho ev	ost="web_applicati al short_day=subs	on" eval b str(date_wday	yte_in_GE ,1,3)	3 = (bytes	/1024)	1			Last 30	days 🔻	C	
J 18	3,194 events (10/9/18	3 12:00:00.000	AM to 11/	8/18 8:09:4	3.000	AM)	No	Even	t Sampl	ing 🕶		
				Job 🕶	Ш	1	ð	ð	Ŧ	• Sr	nart M	ode
Eve	nts (18,194) Pa	tterns Stat	istics	Visualizati	on							
Fo	rmat Timeline 🕶	- Zoom Out	+ Z	oom to Sel	ection		× Dese	lect.				
000	_											
000												
		Mon 0 2018	Oct 15			Mon	Oct 22				Mon 0	Oct 2
> S	how Fields L	ist 🔹 🖌 Fo	rmat	20 Per Pa	ge 🔻			<	Prev	1	2	3
i	Time	Event										
>	10/12/18 11:59:45.000 PM	192.188.106 TTP 1.1" 20 WOW64) Appl byte_in_GB	.240 00 2958 " .eWebKit/ = 2.8886	[12/0ct/2 http://www 536.5 (KHT 71875 h	2018:2 v.butt ML, 1 ost = v	3:59: ercup ike (<mark>veb_</mark>	:45] "(ogames Gecko) <mark>applica</mark>	GET / . com/ Chro ntion	/catego /catego ome/19. shor	ry.scr ry.scr 0.1084 t_day=	een?ca een?ca . 46 Sa = fri	teg teg far sta
>	10/12/18 11:59:43.000 PM	212.235.92. G07&JSESSIC tegoryId=AR , like Geck byte_in_GB	150 NID=SD4S CADE&pro co) Versi = 2.14648	[12/Oct/20 L6FF7ADFF4 ductId=MB- on/5.1 Mob 84375 https://www.com/second	018:23 4963 H -AG-G0 0ile/9 ost = <mark>v</mark>	:59:4 TTP 1 7" "N B206 veb_4	43] "P(1.1" 5 Mozilla Safar <mark>applica</mark>	DST / 03 21 a/5.0 i/753 tion	/succes 198 "ht 0 (iPad 34.48.3 shor	s.do?a tp://w ; CPU " 926 t_day =	ction= ww.but OS 5_1	pur ter _1 sta
>	10/12/18 11:59:41.000 PM	212.235.92. 6FF7ADFF496 (iPad; CPU .48.3" 197	150 3 HTTP 1 OS 5_1_1	[12/Oct/20 .1" 200 60 like Mac	018:23 39 "ht OS X)	:59:4 tp:// App]	41] "P(/www.bu LeWebK:	OST / utter it/53	/cart.d rcupgam 34.46 (1	o?acti es.com KHTML,	on=add /produ like	toc ct. Gec
		byte_in_GB	= 0.6533	203125	host =	web	_appli	catio	n sho	ort_day	/= fri	S



27. Splunk – Tags

Tags are used to assign names to specific field and value combinations. These fields can be event type, host, source, or source type, etc. You can also use a tag to group a set of field values together, so that you can search for them with one command. For example, you can tag all the different files generated on Monday to a tag named mon_files.

To find the field-value pair which we are going to tag, we need to expand the events and locate the field to be considered. The below image shows how we can expand an event to see the fields:

sp	lunk>enterprise	4			0	A r	Messages 🕶	Settings 🔻
Sei	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	ls			
N	ew Search							
1	nost="web_applicat	ion" status=50	3 <mark>OR</mark> 505					
1	3,921 events (10/10/1	18 12:00:00.000	AM to 11/9	9/18 8:46:21.0	00 AN	1)	No Event Sam	oling 🔻
				Job 🕶 🛛 🕅		ð	ĕ <u>↓</u>	• Smart Mo
Eve	ents (13,921) Pa	tterns Statis	tics \	/isualization				
Fo	ormat Timeline 🕶	– Zoom Out	+ Zoo	om to Selectio	n	×D	eselect	
6,000 4,000								
2,000								
		Mon Oct 15 2018		M	on Oct	22		Mon Oct 25
> :	Show Fields L	ist 🔹 🖌 Forn	nat 2	20 Per Page 🔻			< Prev	1 2
i	Time	Event						
>	10/12/18 11:59:45.000 PM	192.188.106. TTP 1.1" 200 WOW64) Apple	240 – – [2958 "ht WebKit/53	[12/Oct/2018 ttp://www.bu 86.5 (KHTML,	:23:5 tterc like	9:45 upgan Geck	"GET /catego nes.com/catego co) Chrome/19	ory.screen?ca ory.screen?ca .0.1084.46 Sa
)	bytes = 2958	date_v	wday = friday	ho	ost =	web_applicatio	status = :
>	10/12/18 11:59:43.000 PM	212.235.92.1 G07&JSESSION tegoryId=ARC , like Gecko	50 [1 ID=SD4SL6 ADE&produ) Versior	2/Oct/2018: 5FF7ADFF4963 uctId=MB-AG- n/5.1 Mobile	23:59 HTTP G07" /9B20	:43] 1.1" "Mozi 6 Saf	"POST /succes 503 2198 "ht lla/5.0 (iPac ari/7534.48.3	ss.do?action= ttp://www.but d; CPU OS 5_1 3" 926
		bytes = 2198	date_w	vday = friday	ho	st = v	veb_applicatio	n status = 5



Creating Tags

We can create tags by adding the tag value to field-value pair using **Edit Tags** option as shown below. We choose the field under the Actions column.

splu	nk>ente	rpr	ise	<i>!</i> ▼			0	A r	Messages 🕶	Settings 🕶
Searc	:h Da	tase	ts I	Reports	Alerts	Dashbo	ards			
Ne	w Sea	rc	h							
hos	t="web_ap	opli	cation"	status=	503 <mark>OR</mark> 505					
✓ 13,9	921 events	(10	/10/18 12	:00:00.00	0 AM to 11/9	9/18 8:46:2	1.000 AN	/) 1	No Event Samp	ling *
						Job 🕶		0	ð ±	Smart Mode
Even	ts (13,921)		Pattern	ns Sta	tistics	Visualizatio	on			
Form	nat Timelin	ne 🕶	-	Zoom Ou	t + 20		ction	X De	select	
000										
000										
000										
				Mon Oct 15 2018			Mon Oct	22		Mon Oct 29
> Sh	ow Fields		List 🔻	🖌 Fo	rmat 3	20 Per Pag	ie 🔺		< Prev	1 2 3
i	lime		Ev	vent						
~ 1 1	10/12/18 11:59:45.000 PM			02.188.106 P 1.1" 20 DW64) App]	5.240 00 2958 "h LeWebKit/5	[12/Oct/2 ttp://www 36.5 (KHTI	018:23:5 .butterc ML, like	9:45] upgam Geck	"GET /catego es.com/catego o) Chrome/19.	ry.screen?cateį ry.screen?cateį 0.1084.46 Safai
	Event A	ctio	ns 🔻							
	Туре	1	Field		Value					Actions
	Selected	1	bytes •	•	2958					~
		1	date_v	vday 🔻	friday		Edit Ta	as		~
		1	host •	1 201	web_app	olication	2011 10	3~		
		~	status	M	503					Ľ

The next screen prompts us to define the tag. For the Status field, we choose the status value of 503 or 505 and assign a tag named server_error as shown below. We have to do



it one by one by choosing two events, each with the events with status value 503 and 505. The image below shows the method for status value as 503. We have to repeat the same steps for an event with status value as 505.

Field Value	status=503	
Tag(s)	server_error	
	Comma or space separated list of tags.	al

Search Using Tags

Once the tags are created, we can search for events containing the Tag by simply writing the Tag name in the search bar. In the below image, we see all the events which have status: 503 or 505.



sp	olunk>en	terprise	/ *			0	4	Messages	∗ s	ettings 🔻
Se	arch	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboard	s				
N	lew Se	earch				Sav	ve As 🔻	New Ta	able	Close
t	ag::statu	is="server_	error"					Last 30	days 🕶	Q
1	417 events	(10/10/18 12	:00:00:000	AM to 11/9/1	8 10:13:01.000	AM)	No E	vent Samp	ling 👻	
					Job 🕶 🛛 🕅		ð	ð 1	9 5	Smart Mo
Ev	ents (417)	Patterr	ns Statist	ics Vis	alization					
F	ormat Tim	eline 🕶	– Zoom Ou	t +Zc	om to Selectio	m	× Des	elect		
180 140 100										
60			Mon Oct 15 2018		M	on Oct	22			Mon Oct 2'
>	Show Fiel	ds Lis	st 🔹 🖌 Fo	ormat	20 Per Page 🔻			< Prev	1	2
i	Time		Event							
>	10/12/18 11:59:43	.000 PM	212.235.92 G07&JSESSI tegoryId=A , like Geo host= web	2.150 ONID=SD4S RCADE&pro ko) Versi _applicatic	[12/Oct/2018 L6FF7ADFF496 ductId=MB-AG on/5.1 Mobile	:23:59 3 HTTF -G07" 2/9B20 503 <mark>s</mark>	9:43] " 9 1.1" "Mozil 96 Safa erver_e	POST /succ 503 2198 " la/5.0 (iF ri/7534.48 error	cess.do 'http:/ Pad; CF 3.3" 92	9?action= //www.but 2U OS 5_1 26
>	10/12/18 11:48:44	.000 PM	27.102.11. 7 HTTP 1.1 MSIE 7.0; host = web	11 [1 " 503 106 Windows N _applicatic	2/Oct/2018:22 8 "http://www T 5.1; Trider on status =	3:48:4 v.butt nt/4.0 503 <mark>s</mark>	44] "GE tercupg); .NET <mark>erver_e</mark>	T /product ames.com/c CLR 2.0.5	ategor: ategor:	en?produc ry.screer MS-RTC L
>	10/12/18 11:16:54.0	000 PM	95.130.170 HTTP 1.1" Trident/4. host= web	.231 [505 3831 ' 0; .NET CL _applicatio	12/Oct/2018: http://www.b R 2.0.50727; n status = 5	23:16 outter MS-R 505 so	:54] "(cupgame TC LM { erver_e	GET /categ es.com/old 3; InfoPat rror	ory.sc link" h.2)"	reen?cat "Mozilla 607



28. Splunk – Apps

A Splunk app is an extension of Splunk functionality which has its own in-built UI context to serve a specific need. Splunk apps are made up of different Splunk knowledge objects (lookups, tags, eventtypes, savedsearches, etc). Apps themselves can utilize or leverage other apps or add-ons. Splunk can run any number of apps simultaneously.

When you log in to Splunk, you land on an app which is typically, the **Splunk Search app**. So, almost everytime you are inside the Splunk interface, you are using an app.

Listing Splunk Apps

We can list the available apps in Splunk by using the option **Apps -> Manage Apps**. Navigating this option brings out the following screen which lists the existing apps available in Splunk interface.

splunk>enterprise	Apps 🕶	Ad	ministra	itor 🔹 Messages	 Settings
Apps	Brow	rse more	apps	Install app from f	ile Create app
Showing 1-18 of 18 item	IS				
filter	Q				25 per page *
Name •	Folder name \$	Version	Visible	Sharing \$	Status 🕯
SplunkForwarder	SplunkForwarder		No	App Permissions	Disabled Enable
SplunkLightForwarder	SplunkLightForwarder		No	App Permissions	Disabled Enable
Log Event Alert Action	alert_logevent	7.2.0	No	App Permissions	Enabled Disable
Webhook Alert Action	alert_webhook	7.2.0	No	App Permissions	Enabled Disable
Apps Browser	appsbrowser	7.2.0	No	App Permissions	Enabled
framework	framework		No	App Permissions	Enabled Disable
Getting started	gettingstarted	1.0	Yes	App Permissions	Disabled Enable

Following are important values associated with the Splunk apps:

- **Name:** It is the name of the App and unique for each App.
- **Folder Name**: It is the name to use for the directory in \$SPLUNK_HOME/etc/apps/. The name of the folder cannot contain "dot" (.) character.
- **Version**: It is the app version string. Visible Indicates whether the app should be visible in Splunk Web. Apps that contain a user interface should be visible.



- Sharing: It is the level of permissions (read or write) given to different Splunk • users for that specific app.
- Status: It is the current status of availability of the App. It may be enabled or • disabled for use.

App Permissions

A proper setting of permissions for using the app is important. We can restrict the app to be used by a single user or by multiple users including all users. The below screen which appears after clicking on the permissions link in the above is used to modify the access to different roles.

Permissions Apps » alert_logevent » Permissions	
Apps » alert_logevent » Permissions	
App permissions	
Users with read access can only save objects for themselves, and requir share objects with other users.	e write access to be able
Roles Read Write	
Everyone 🗹	
admin	
can_delete	
power	
splunk-system-role	
user	
Charles for config file only phinets	
Sharing for config file-only objects	
Set permissions for configurations that have been copied over or added than created through the UI.	to config files rather
Objects defined in config files only (not in the UI) should appear in	
This app only (system) All apps	
Cance	al Save



By default, the check marks for Read and Write option is available for Everyone. But we can change that by going to each role and selecting appropriate permission for that specific role.

App Marketplace

There is a wide variety of needs for which the Splunk search functionalities are used. So, there is a Splunk App market place which has come into existence show casing many different apps created by individual and organizations. They are available in both free and paid versions. We can browse those apps by choosing the option **Apps -> Manage Apps -> Browse More Apps**. The below screen comes up.

splunk>enterprise A+		🚯 🌬	Messages 🔻	Setting Find	Q		
Browse More Apps							
Find apps by keyword, technolog	Newest 462 Apps	Popular	< Prev 1] 2 3	Next >		
CATEGORY DevOps Security, Fraud & Compliance IT Operations Utilities Business Analytics IoT & Industrial Data	Monitor v This app (in 5 minu	Vebsite I websites to uses a mod utes or less	Monitoring detect downtin dular input that o).	ne and performand can be setup easil	Install ce problem ly		
CIM VERSION 4.x 3.x	Category: IT Operations Author: Luke Murphey Do Last Updated: 13 minutes ago View on Splunkbase						
SUPPORT TYPE	٩	ILP Text	Analytics		Install		
Developer Splunk Unsupported Developer	Have you Splunk? S more adva to provide	ever wante plunk has s inced featu a simple ir	ed to perform ad some ways to ha res that NLP libu iterface for anal	lvanced text analy andle text but also raries can offer. th yzing text in Splur	tics inside lacks som is app is ik using py		
APP CONTENT Inputs Alert Actions	Category: Released:	Utilities, Busi 5 months ag	iness Analytics A o Last Updated: 3	uthor: Natha 37 minutes a			



As you can see, the App name along with a brief description of the functionality of the App appears. This helps you decide which app to use. Also, note how the Apps are categorized in the left bar to help choose the type of App faster.



Removing data from Splunk is possible by using the **delete** command. We first create the search condition to fetch the events we want to mark for delete. Once the search condition is acceptable, we add the delete clause at the end of the command to remove those events from Splunk. After deletion, not even a user with admin privilege is able to view this data in Splunk.

Removal of data is irreversible. If you still want the removed data back into Splunk then you should have the original source data copy with you which can be used to re-index the data in Splunk. It will be a process similar to creating a new index.

Assigning Delete Privilege

Any user including admin user does not have access to delete the data by default. By default, only the "**can_delete**" role has the ability to delete events. So, we create a new user, assign this role and then login with the credentials of this new user to perform the delete operation. The below image shows how we create a new user with "can_delete" role. We arrive at this screen by following the path **Settings -> Access Controls -> Users -> New User**.



Create User				×
Name	del_usr			
Full name	optional			
Email address	optional			
Set password	*******			
Confirm password				
Time zone ? Default app ?	✓ 8 characters — Default System Timezone – ▼ launcher (Home) ▼			
Default app ?	launcher (Home) 🔻			
Assign to roles ?	Available item(s) admin can_delete power splunk-system-role	add all >	Selected Item(s) can_delete user	« remove al
Create a role for this user				
Require password change on first login				
			Ca	incel Save

We then log out of Splunk interface and login back with this newly created user.

Identifying the data to be removed

First, we need to identify the list of events we want to remove. It is done using a normal search query specifying the filter condition. In the below example, we choose to look for the events from the host web_application which has the field http status value as **505**. Our goal is to delete only the set of data containing these values to be removed from the search result. The below image shows this set of data selected.





Deleting the Selected Data

Next, we use the delete command to remove the above selected data from the result set. It involves just adding the word delete after '|' at the end of the search query as shown below:



sp	lunk>enterprise	/*	0	🖛 🛛 😟 Message	es 👻 Setting	gs 🔻 Activi	ty 🕶 He
Se	arch Datasets	Reports Aler	ts Dashboards				
N	ew Search				Save As •	New Table	Close
h	ost="web_application	on" status = 505	delete			All time 🔻	Q
1	1,352 events (before 1	1/20/18 8:58:41.000	PM) No Event San	ipling *			
				II * doL	≡ ∂ ð	¥ •	Smart Mc
Ev	ents (1,352) Patte	erns Statistics	Visualization				
F	ormat Timeline 💌	- Zoom Out	+ Zoom to Selection	× Deselect			
70					-		
30							
	Sat Sep 1 2018	5	Sat Sep 22		Sat Sep 29		Sat Or
>	Show Fields Li	st 👻 🖌 Format	20 Per Page *	< Pr	ev 1 2	3 4	56
i	Time	Event					
>	10/12/18 12:43:28.000 AM	216.221.226.11 - //www.buttercupg 147	- [12/Oct/2018:00 games.com/category.	:43:28] "GET /olo screen?categoryIo	Jlink?&JSESSI(j=NULL" "Mozi]	ONID=SD3SL7FI 11a/4.0 (comj	F1ADFF495 patible;
		bytes = 862 file uri = /oldlink?&JSE	e = oldlink host =	web_application	status = 505	server_error	1
>	10/12/18 12:31:26.000 AM	87.240.128.18 - TTP 1.1" 505 189 1.9.2.28) Gecko/	- [12/Oct/2018:00: 9 "http://www.butto 20120306 YFF3 Fire	31:26] "GET /cate ercupgames.com/ol fox/3.6.28 (.NET	egory.screen?d ldlink" "Mozii F CLR 3.5.307	categoryId=NU 11a/5.0 (Wind 29; .NET4.0C	ULL&JSESS dows; U; ')" 871
		bytes = 1899 fil uri = /category.scr	le = category.screen een?categoryId=NULI	host = web_app L&JSESSIONID=SD	plication sta 06SL10FF4ADF	itus = <mark>505</mark> se F4960	rver_error
>	10/11/18 11:58:17.000 PM	188.138.40.166 - 7 HTTP 1.1* 505 le; MSIE 6.0; Wi	- [11/Oct/2018:23 2071 "http://www.bu ndows NT 5.1; SV1;	:58:17] "GET /pro uttercupgames.com .NET CLR 1.1.432	oduct.screen?p n/product.scre 22)* 531	productId=SF een?productIo	-BVS-01&J: d=SF-BVS-I
		bytes = 2071 fil uri = /product.scre	le = product.screen een?productId=SF-BV	host = web_app S-01&JSESSIONID=	SD2SL6FF5AD	ductld = SF-B DFF4957	VS-01 s

After running the search query above, we can see the next screen where those events have got deleted.



splunk>enter	orise 🔺	2		0	۳ 🧕	Messages 🕶	Setting	s • Activi	ty 🔹 🛛 H
Search Data	isets Re	ports	Alerts	Dashboards					
New Sear	ch					Save	e As 🕈	New Table	Close
host="web_app	lication" s	tatus =	505 dele	te				All time •	Q
✓ 1,352 events (I Events Patter	efore 11/21/1	8 6:12:31.(Visual	No Event San	• doL ©		r 8	± *	Smart Me
20 Per Page •	✓ Format	Prev	/iew *	20001	_	_			
splunk_server \$		/	index ‡		dele	eted 🌣 🖌		errors	• /
DESKTOP-JKQCPL	2		ALL		1	1352			0
DESKTOP-JKQCPL			main			1352			0
					-				

You can also further run the search query to verify that these events are not returned in the result set.



The charts created in Splunk has many features to customize them as per the user need. These customizations help in displaying the data completely or changing the interval for which the data is calculated. After initially creating the chart, we dive into the customization features.

Let us consider the below search query for getting the statistics of various measurements of byte size of the files by week day. We choose a column chart to display the graph and see the default values in the X-axis and Y-Axis values.

splunk>	enterprise	4			*	Messages 🔻	Settings 🕶
Search	Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards			
New	Search						
host="w stats c	web_applicati count(bytes)	on" avg(bytes) st	dev(bytes)	by date_wda	у	All ti	ime • Q
✓ 131,645	events (befor	re 11/12/18 8:46:	04.000 AM) No Event	Sampling	*	
				Job 👻 💠 🛙	=		? Smart Mo
Events	Patterns	Statistics (7)	Visuali	zation			
ul Colt	umn Chart	✓ Format	# Trellis				
25,000							
20,000							
15,000							_
10,000							_
5,000	-						
	friday	monday	St	turday	sunday date_wd	thurs	day
date_wda	ay		coun	t(bytes)			avg(bytes)
friday				22775		2159.2	494840834247



Axis Customization

We can customize the axes displayed in the chart by choosing the **Format -> X-axis** button. Here, we edit the Title of the chart. We also edit the Label Rotation option to choose an inclined label to fit better into the chart. After editing these, results can be seen in the chart as highlighted using the green boxes below.

host="web_app stats count(b	olication" wytes) avg(bytes) stda	ev(bytes) <mark>by</mark> date	_wday			
/ 131,645 events	s (before 11/12/18 8:46:04	1.000 AM) No E	vent Samplin	g *		
		Jop 🛪	11 III	n 🕯 🛓	Ł ?	Smart Mo
Events Patt	erns Statistics (7)	Visualization				
ul Column Ch	nart / Format	器 Trellis				
	11111				×	
General	Title	Custom +	Bytes by	Week Day		
X-Axis	Label Rotation	2 ab	abc %	abc	1	
Y-Axis	Label Truncation	Yes	1	No	1	
Chart						
Overlay						
Legend						
Hede.	, some	Selvico,	aurels,		Trusses,	
		L	Bytes by We	eek Day		
late_wday		count(bytes)			av	g(bytes)
fridav		22775		2	159.249484	10834247

Legend Customization

The legends of the chart can also be customized by using the option **Format -> Legend**. We edit the option Legend Position to mark it at Top. We also edit the Legend Truncation option to Truncate the End of the legend if required. The below cart shows the legends displayed at the top with colors and values.



host="web stats cou	b_applicatior unt(bytes) av	n" /g(bytes) std	ev(bytes) by da	te_wday			
√ 131,645 e	events (before	11/12/18 8:46:0	4.000 AM) No	Event Samp	ling 🔻		
			- dol	11.0	ð 👌	*	• Smart Mo
Events	Patterns	Statistics (7)	Visualization				
al Colun	nn Chart	Format	88 Trellis				
			co	ount(bytes)	avg(bytes	5) 📕	stdev(bytes)
25K							
20К							x
20К	Gener	al Le	egend Position		Top •		×
20К 15К	Gener X-Axis	ral Le	egend Position	A	Top •		X
20K 15K 10K	Gener X-Axis Y-Axis	al Lo	egend Position Legend Truncation	A	Top • AZ		×
20К 15К 10К	Gener X-Axis Y-Axis Chart	ral Le	egend Position Legend Truncation	A	Top • AZ		x
20К 15К 10К 5К	Gener X-Axis Y-Axis Chart Overla	al Lo ay	egend Position Legend Truncation	A	Top ▼ AZ		×
20K 15K 10K 5K	Gener X-Axis Y-Axis Chart Overla	al Lo ay	egend Position	A	C Top ▼ AZ		×
20K 15K 10K 5K	Gener X-Axis Y-Axis Chart Overla Legen	ay id	egend Position Legend Truncation	A	AZ	ek Day	×
20K 15K 10K 5K date_wday	Gener X-Axis Y-Axis Chart Overla Legen	al La	egend Position Legend Truncation	A	C Top ▼ AZ Bytes by Wee	ek Day	x Z


Splunk Enterprise monitors and indexes the file or directory as new data appears. You can also specify a mounted or shared directory, including network file systems, as long as Splunk Enterprise can read from the directory. If the specified directory contains subdirectories, the monitor process recursively examines them for new files, as long as the directories can be read.

You can include or exclude files or directories from being read by using whitelists and blacklists.

If you disable or delete a monitor input, Splunk Enterprise does not stop indexing the files: input references. It only stops checking those files again.

You specify the path to a file or directory and the monitor processor consumes any new data written to that file or directory. This is how you can monitor live application logs such as those coming from Web access logs, Java 2 Platform or .NET applications, and so on.

Add files to Monitor

Using Splunk web interface, we can add files or directories to be monitored. We go to **Splunk Home -> Add Data -> Monitor** as shown in the below image:





On clicking Monitor, it brings up the list of types of files and directory you can use to monitor the files. Next, we choose the file we want to monitor.



						6
dd Data Select Source	Set Source Type	Input Settings	Review	-O Done	< Back	Nex
Local Event Logs Collect event logs from this ma	chine.		Config directo	ure this	instance to	o monite tory. Th
Remote Event Logs Collect event logs from remote requires a domain account.	hosts. Note: this uses	WMI and	all obje data so configu	ects with ources i ure indiv	nin the dire n the direc vidual data	ctory. T tory. To inputs
Files & Directories Upload a file, index a local file,	or monitor an entire dir	ectory.		File	or Director	y ?
HTTP Event Collector Configure tokens that clients c HTTPS.	an use to send data ove	er HTTP or				\ar
TCP / UDP Configure the Splunk platform	to listen on a network p	vort.	7		Whitelis	t?
Configure this instance to directory, select the direct all objects within the direct data sources in the direct configure individual data	o monitor files and d ctory. The Splunk pla ctory. This might can tory. To assign multi inputs for those obj	irectories for data atform monitors ar use problems if th ple source types t ects. Learn More	a. To moni ad assigns ere are di to objects 2	tor all o s a singl ifferent in the s	bjects in a le source ty object type same direct	ype to es or tory,
File or Director	2 Documente	enlunk/prodeutid			Di	owse
File or Director	y? Documents	splunk/prodcutid	og or \\hos	Iname\ar	pache	
File or Director	y ? Documents' On Windows: c:\a \apache.error.log.	\splunk\prodcutid pache\apache.error.l On Unix: /var/log or	og or \\hos /mnt/www0	tname\ap)1/var/log	bache I.	
File or Director	y ? Documents' On Windows: c:\a \apache.error.log. Contin	\splunk\prodcutid pache\apache.error.l On Unix: /var/log or uously Monitor	og or \\hos /mnt/www0	tname\ap)1/var/log Ir	ndex Once	
File or Director	y ? Documents On Windows: c:\a \apache.error.log. Contin	\splunk\prodcutid pache\apache.error.l On Unix: /var/log or uously Monitor	og or \\hos /mnt/www0	tname\ap)1/var/log Ir	ndex Once	

Next, we choose the default values as Splunk is able to parse the file and configure the options for monitoring automatically.



After the final step, we see the below result which captures the events from the file to be monitored.

sp	lunk>enterprise	<i>[</i> *		0	A* 2 N	Messages 🔻	Settings
Se	arch Datasets	Reports Ale	erts Dast	boards			
N	ew Search						
s h	ource="C:\\Users\\ ost="DESKTOP-JKQCP	Documents\\TP_AWS LP" sourcetype="c	S\\splunk\\p sv"	rodcutid	vals.csv"	All time	- Q
~1	8 events (before 11/1	3/18 10:13:11.000 AN	1) No Ever	nt Samplir	ig 🔻		
			Job 🕶	0	ə 8	± !	Smart Mo
Eve	ents (18) Pattern	s Statistics	Visualizatio	n			
Fo	ormat Timeline 🕶	- Zoom Out	+ Zoom to S	election	× Dese	lect	
18		1989-1993 A. A. B. B. B. B. B.	1. 17-50 - 17 - 50 - 11				
12							
6							
12 T 2	2:27:23.000 PM ue Oct 30 018	12:27:23.000	PM	12:2	7:23.000 PM		12:27:23.00
> :	Show Fields Li	ist 🔹 🖌 Format	20 Per	Page 🔻			
i	Time	Event					
>	10/30/18	SF-BVS-G01,Hard	Drive				
	12:27:23.000 PM	host = DESKTOP	JKQCPLP	product	description	= Hard Drive	
>	10/30/18	GT-SC-G01,Batte	ry				
	12:27:23.000 PM	host = DESKTOP	JKQCPLP	product	description	= Battery	
>	10/30/18	WSC-MG-G10,Usb	Light				
	12:27:23.000 PM	host = DESKTOP	-JKQCPLP	product	description	= Usb Light	
>	10/30/18	CU-PG-G06,EBook	Reader				
	12.27.23.000 FW	nost = DESKTOP	JKQCPLP	producte	description	= EBook Rea	der

If any of the value in the event changes, then the above result gets updated to show the latest result.



The **sort** command sorts all the results by specified fields. The missing fields are treated as having the smallest or largest possible value of that field if the order is descending or ascending, respectively. If the first argument to the sort command is a number, then at most that many results are returned, in order. If no number is specified, the default limit of 10000 is used. If the number 0 is specified, all of the results are returned.

Sorting by Field Types

We can assign specific data type for the fields being searched. The existing data type in the Splunk dataset may be different than the data type we enforce in the search query. In the below example, we sort the status field as numeric in ascending order. Also, the field named url is searched as a string and the negative sign indicates descending order of sorting.



sp	lunk>enterpris	e /•		6	1.	2 Mess	ages 🔻	Setti	ngs 🕶	Acti	vity 🕶	
Se	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards								
N	ew Search	i.									Save /	As
h	ost="web_applica	tion" sort nu	um(status)	, -str(url)								
21	0,000 events (bef	ore 11/13/18 8:10:2	25.000 PM)	No Event S	ampling	9* • 11		ə 8	Ŧ	•	Smart I	Mc
Ev	ents (10,000)	Patterns Sta	tistics	Visualization								
Fo	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out	+Zo	om to Selection		Deselect						
350											_	
150												
		12:00 AM Thu Oct 11 2018		12:00 P	M		1 F	2:00 AM ri Oct 12				12
>	Show Fields	List • / Fo	rmat	20 Per Page 🔻		2	Prev	1	2 3	4	5	6
i	Time	Event										
>	10/12/18 11:59:45.000 PM	192.188.106 1 TTP 1.1* 20 WOW64) Appl bytes = 295 uri = /catego	0.240 00 2958 "h eWebKit/5 8 file = ory.screen?	[12/Oct/2018:: ttp://www.but 36.5 (KHTML, : category.screer categoryId=TEE	23:59:4 tercupg like Ge n ho: &JSES	5] "GET (ames.com cko) Chr st = web_ SIONID=S	/categor /categor ome/19.0 applicat D2SL4FF	ry.scree ry.scree).1084.4 ion s F9ADFF	en?cate en?cate 46 Safa tatus = 1 4959	goryIc goryIc ri/530 200	1=TEE&J 1=TEE" 5.5" 60	SE "M 2
>	10/12/18 11:59:41.000 PM	212.235.92. 6FF7ADFF496 (iPad; CPU .48.3* 197 bytes = 669 uri = /cart.dc	150 [3 HTTP 1. 0S 5_1_1 file = ci ?action=ad	12/Oct/2018:2: 1" 200 669 "hi like Mac OS X art.do host = ldtocart&produ	3:59:41 ttp://w) Apple web_a ctid=MB] "POST ww.butte WebKit/5 spplication	/cart.do rcupgame 34.46 (M a pro &JSESSN	o?action es.com/p (HTML,] ductid = ONID=S	n=addto product like Ge MB-AG D4SL6F	cart&p .scree cko) \ -G07 F7AD.	oroduct en?prod /ersion statu	Id uc /5
>	10/12/18 11:59:39.000 PM	212.235.92. 3 HTTP 1.1" OS 5_1_1 1i bytes = 222 uri = /produc	150 [200 2223 ke Mac OS 3 file = j ct.screen?p	12/Oct/2018:2: "http://www.l X) AppleWebK: product.screen roductId=MB-A	3:59:39 outterc it/534. hos G-G078	9] "GET / upgames. 46 (KHTM t = web_a JSESSIO	product. com/cate L, like pplicatio NID=SD4	screen egory.so Gecko) on pr ISL6FF7	Production Preen?co Version oductid ADFF49	tId=ME ategor n/5.1 = MB- 063	3-AG-G0 yId=AR Mobile AG-GO	7& CA /9 7

Sorting up to a Limit

We can also specify the number of results that will be sorted instead of the entire search result. The below search result shows the sorting of only 50 events with **status** as ascending and **url** as descending.



sp	lunk>enterprise	1-		0	}+	2 Message	s▼ Sett	ings 🕶	Activity -
Se	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts	Dashboards					
N	ew Search								Save A
h	ost="web_applicati	on" sort 50) <mark>num</mark> (stat	us), -str(url	.)			All tim	ie • Q
15	60 events (before 11/	13/18 8:37:59.0	00 PM)	No Event Sam	pling •				
					doL	•	<i>∂</i> 6	*	? Smart M
Eve	ents (50) Patter	ns Statistic	s Visu	alization					
Fo	ormat Timeline 🔻	- Zoom Out	÷ Zo	om to Selection	×	Deselect			
2									
4			_						
11 F	:46 PM ri Oct 12	11:48 PM	11:50	PM	11:52 P	M	11:54 PM	-	11:56 PM
>	Show Fields L	ist • 🖌 Fo	rmat	20 Per Page *					< Prev
i	Time	Event							
>	10/12/18 11:59:45.000 PM	192.188.106 TTP 1.1* 20 WOW64) App1 bytes = 2956 uri = /catego	.240 0 2958 "h eWebKit/5 8 file = ory.screen?	[12/Oct/2018: ttp://www.but 36.5 (KHTML, category.scree categoryId=TEI	23:59:4 tercupg like Ge n hos E&JSESS	5] "GET /cat ames.com/cat cko) Chrome/ at = web_app SIONID=SD2S	tegory.scre tegory.scre (19.0.1084. dication	een?catego een?catego 46 Safar: status = 20 4959	oryId=TEE&JS oryId=TEE" " i/536.5" 602 00
>	10/12/18 11:59:41.000 PM	212.235.92. 6FF7ADFF496 (iPad; CPU .48.3* 197 bytes = 669 uri = /cart.do	150 [3 HTTP 1. OS 5_1_1 file = c ?action=ac	12/Oct/2018:2 1" 200 669 "h like Mac OS X art.do host= ddtocart&produ	3:59:41 ttp://w) Apple = web_a ctld=MB] "POST /car ww.buttercup WebKit/534.4 application -AG-G07&JSI	rt.do?actio ogames.com/ 46 (KHTML, productId = ESSIONID=S	n=addtoca product.: like Geck MB-AG-0 D4SL6FF	art&productI screen?produ ko) Version/ 507 status 7AD
>	10/12/18 11:59:39.000 PM	212.235.92. 3 HTTP 1.1" OS 5_1_1 1i bytes = 2223 uri = /produc	150 [200 2223 ke Mac OS 3 file = ct.screen?p	12/Oct/2018:2 "http://www. X) AppleWebK product.screen productId=MB-A	3:59:39 butterc it/534. host G-G078] "GET /proc upgames.com/ 46 (KHTML,] != web_appl JSESSIONID	duct.screen (category.s Like Gecko) ication p =SD4SL6FF7	?product: creen?cat Version, roductld = 7ADFF496	Id=MB-AG-G07 tegoryId=ARC /5.1 Mobile/ MB-AG-G07 33
>	10/12/18 11:59:27.000 PM	192.188.106 p://www.but Chrome/19.0	.240 tercupgam .1084.46	[12/Oct/2018: es.com/oldlin Safari/536.5*	23:59:2 k" "Moz 674	7] "GET /old illa/5.0 (Wi	ilink?&JSES indows NT 6	SIONID=SU	02SL4FF9ADFF 4) AppleWebK
		bytes = 1911 url = /oldlink	file = ol ?&JSESSIC	dlink host = DNID=SD2SL4F	web_a F9ADFF	pplication 4959	status = 20	0	



Using Reverse

We can toggle the result of an entire search query by using the reverse clause. It is useful to use the existing query without altering and reversing the sort result as and when needed.

sp	lunk>enterprise	1/*		0 /	🔹 📀 Messa	ages 🔹 Setti	ings 🔹 Activity 🕶
Se	arch Datasets	Reports	Alerts [Dashboards			
N	ew Search						Save A
h	ost="web_applicat	ion" sort 50	num(status)	, -str(url)	reverse		All time 🔹 🔍
~	60 events (before 11	/13/18 8:44:51.00	00 PM) No	Event Samplir	ig ≠		
Ev	ents (50) Patte	ms Statistic	s Visualiz	ation	II * doL		± ♥ Smart M
Fo	ormat Timeline 👻	- Zoom Out	+ Zoom	to Selection	× Deselect		
12							
4							
1 F 2	1:46 PM ri Oct 12 018	11:48 PM	11:50 PM		11:52 PM	11:54 PM	11:56 PM
>	Show Fields	List 🔹 🖌 For	mat 20 I	Per Page 🔻			< Prev
i	Time	Event					
>	10/12/18 11:46:17.000 PM	203.223.0.2 HTTP 1.1" 2 MSIE 9.0; W	0 [12/Oc 00 900 "http indows NT 6.	t/2018:23:46 ://www.butte 1; WDW64; Tr	:17] *POST /pr rcupgames.com/ ident/5.0; BOI	oduct.screen? /product.scree (E9;ENUS)" 675	productId=DB-SG-G01& n?productId=DB-SG-G0
		bytes = 900 uri = /produc	file = prod t.screen?prod	uct.screen uctId=DB-SG-	host = <mark>web_ap</mark> G01&JSESSION	plication pro	oductld = DB-SG-G01 ADFF4951
>	10/12/18 11:46:35.000 PM	203.223.0.2 /www.butter W64: Triden	0 [12/Oc cupgames.com t/5.0; BOIE9	t/2018:23:46 /category.sc ;ENUS)" 884	:35] "GET /old reen?category]	llink?&JSESSIO [d=TEE" "Mozil	NID=SD5SL2FF7ADFF495 la/5.0 (compatible;
		bytes = 3164 uri = /oldlink	file = oldli &JSESSIONIE	nk host =) D=SD5SL2FF7	veb_application ADFF4951	status = 20	00
>	10/12/18 11:46:39.000 PM	203.223.0.2 HTTP 1.1" 2 ; MSIE 9.0;	0 [12/Oc 00 2369 "http Windows NT (t/2018:23:46 p://www.butt 6.1; WOW64;	:39] "GET /cat ercupgames.com Trident/5.0; E	egory.screen? /product.scre 0IE9;ENUS)" 2	categoryId=STRATEGY& en?productId=PZ-SG-G 01
		bytes = 2369 uri = /catego	file = cate	egory.screen egoryId=STRA	host = web_ TEGY&JSESSIO	application NID=SD5SL2FF	productId = PZ-SG-G05 7ADFF4951
>	10/12/18 11:48:35.000 PM	27.102.11.1 HTTP 1.1" 2 T CLR 2.0.5	1 [12/Oc 00 966 "http 0727; MS-RTC	t/2018:23:48 ://www.googl LM 8; InfoP	:35] "GET /pro e.com" "Mozill ath.2)" 995	oduct.screen?p .a/4.0 (compat	roductId=FI-AG-G08&J ible; MSIE 7.0; Wind
		bytes = 966 uri = /produc	file = prod t.screen?prod	uct.screen uctId=FI-AG-G	host = web_ap 08&JSESSIONI	plication pro D=SD0SL2FF8/	oductid = FI-AG-G08 ADFF89567



Many times, we are interested in finding the most common values available in a field. The **top** command in Splunk helps us achieve this. It further helps in finding the count and percentage of the frequency the values occur in the events.

Top Values for a Field

In its simplest form, we just get the count and the percentage of such count as compared to the total number of events. In the below example, we find 8 top most productid values.

splunk>enterprise	<i>L</i> -		4 🚯	2 м	essages 🔻	Settings ·
Search Datasets	Reports	Alerts Dasht	ooards			
New Search			Save /	As ▼	New Table	Close
host="web_applicati	ion" top limi	t=8 productId			All time 🕶	Q
✓ 131,645 events (befor	re 11/13/18 12:51:5	52.000 PM) No Job v	Event Sampl	ing ▼ → 🐣	¥ ,	Smart Mo
Events Patterns	Statistics (8)	Visualization				
50 Per Page 🔹 🖌 F	ormat Prev	iew 🕶				
productid 🗘 🖌		count 🗘 🖌			per	cent 🗘 🖌
WC-SH-G04		8112				8.253968
DB-SG-G01		7977				8.116606
DC-SG-G02		7703				7.837810
SC-MG-G10		7425				7.554945
WC-SH-A02		7152				7.277167
MB-AG-T01		6977				7.099105
MB-AG-G07		6915				7.036020
FS-SG-G03		6595				6.710419



Top Values for a Field by a Field

Next, we can also include another field as part of this top command's by clause to display the result of field1 for each set of field2. In the below search, we find top 3 productids for each file name. Note how the file names are repeated 3 times showing different productid for that file.

splunk>enterprise /*		🕕 🕂 🙁 Message	∙s ▼ Settings ▼	Activity - He
Search Datasets Rep	orts Alerts Dashbo	ards		
New Search				Save As 💌
host="web_application" t	op limit=3 productId by	file		All time 👻 🔍
√ 131,645 events (before 11/13/1	8 12:58:57.000 PM) No E	vent Sampling 🔻		
		Job 🕶 🛛 🕅	1 0 0 J	• Smart Mo
Events Patterns Statis	tics (26) Visualization			
50 Per Page 🔹 🖌 Format	Preview -			
file ‡	productId \$	count 🌣 🖌		percent ÷ /
anna_nicole.html	SF-BVS-01	45		97.826087
anna_nicole.html	SF-BVS-G01	1		2.173913
cart.do	WC-SH-G04	2685		8.944633
cart.do	SC-MG-G10	2578		8.588180
cart.do	DB-SG-G01	2539		8.458258
category.screen	SC-MG-G10	757		8.490354
category.screen	DC-SG-G02	734		8.232391
category.screen	DB-SG-G01	734		8.232391
error.do	GT-SC-G01	307		100.000000
logo.ico	SF-BVS-01	52		100.000000
numa.html	SF-BVS-01	40		100.000000
oldlink	DB-SG-G01	734		8.322939
oldlink	SC-MG-G10	725		8.220887
oldlink	DC-SG-G02	680		7.710625
product.screen	SF-BVS-01	3375		10.268971
product.screen	WC-SH-G04	2647		8.053916
product.screen	DB-SG-G01	2581		7.853100



Show Options

We can also decide to show specific columns by using additional options available in Splunk with the Top Command. In the below command, we disable to show the percentage option and display only the top product ID by File name.

splunk>enterprise /*	6 /-	2 Messages 🕶	Settings • Activity • He
Search Datasets Reports A	lerts Dashboards		
New Search			Save As *
host="web_application" top 1 pro	ductId by file countfiel	d=total showperc=f	All time • Q
✓ 131,645 events (before 11/13/18 1:36:53.	000 PM) No Event Sam	oling 🔻	
		Job 🕶 🕕 🔳	🔿 👵 🛓 📍 Smart Mo
Events Patterns Statistics (13)	Visualization		
50 Per Page 🔹 🖌 Format 🛛 Previe	w *		
file ¢	productid 🗢 🖌		total 🌩 🖌
anna_nicole.html	SF-BVS-01		45
cart.do	WC-SH-G04		2685
category.screen	SC-MG-G10		757
error.do	GT-SC-G01		307
logo.ico	SF-BVS-01		52
numa.html	SF-BVS-01		40
oldlink	DB-SG-G01		734
product.screen	SF-BVS-01		3375
productscreen.html	SF-BVS-01		53
search.do	SF-BVS-01		53
show.do	SF-BVS-01		225
signals.zip	SF-BVS-01		36
success.do	WC-SH-G04		1422



The stats command is used to calculate summary statistics on the results of a search or the events retrieved from an index. The stats command works on the search results as a whole and returns only the fields that you specify.

Each time you invoke the stats command, you can use one or more functions. However, you can only use one BY clause. If the stats command is used without a BY clause, only one row is returned, which is the aggregation over the entire incoming result set. If a BY clause is used, one row is returned for each distinct value specified in the BY clause.

Below we see the examples on some frequently used stats command.

Finding Average

We can find the average value of a numeric field by using the **avg()** function. This function takes the field name as input. Without a BY clause, it will give a single record which shows the average value of the field for all the events. But with a by clause, it will give multiple rows depending on how the field is grouped by the additional new field.

In the below example, we find the average byte size of the files grouped by the various http status code linked to the events associated with those files.



Splunk

splunk>enterprise 🖈 💿 Mes	sages 🔹 Settings 🔹 Activity 🔹 He
Search Datasets Reports Alerts Dashboards	\geq
New Search	Save As • New Table Close
host="web_application" stats avg(bytes) by status	All time 👻 🔍
131,645 events (before 11/19/18 7:25:05.000 PM) No Event Sampling *	
I ▼ doL	। 🔲 🤉 🐴 🛓 📍 Smart Mod
Events Patterns Statistics (9) Visualization	
50 Per Page • / Format Preview •	
status ‡ 🖉	avg(bytes) 🗢 🖌
200	2191.187422765344
480	2116.0206929740134
403	1823.4197828709289
484	2070.8220153340635
486	2098.6553537284894
488	2089.915982617093
500	2098.8101761252447
503	2092.354336283186
505	2083.1005917159764

Finding Range

The stats command can be used to display the range of the values of a numeric field by using the **range** function. We continue the previous example but instead of average, we now use the **max()**, **min()** and **range** function together in the stats command so that we can see how the range has been calculated by taking the difference between the values of max and min columns.



Splunk

splunk>enterprise	· /•	🚯 🚈 😰 Message	s • Settings • Activity • He
Search Datasets	Reports Alerts	Dashboards	\geq
New Search		S	ave As • New Table Close
host="web_applicat	tion" stats min(bytes)	max(bytes) range(bytes) by sta	tus All time + Q
✓ 131,645 events (before)	ore 11/19/18 8:16:40.000 PM)	No Event Sampling *	
		II ▼ doL	■ → 🕹 ± 📍 Smart Mo
Events Patterns	Statistics (9) Visuali	zation	
50 Per Page •	Format Preview •		
status 🗘 🖌	min(bytes) 🗘 🖌	max(bytes) 🌣 🖌	range(bytes) 🌣 🖌
200	200	47251	47051
400	202	4000	3798
403	160	3997	3837
404	202	4000	3798
406	200	4000	3800
408	201	4000	3799
500	202	3998	3796
503	202	3998	3796
505	200	3999	3799

Finding Mean and Variance

Statistically focused values like the mean and variance of fields is also calculated in a similar manner as given above by using appropriate functions with the stats command. In the below example, we use the functions **mean()** and **var()** to achieve this. We continue using the same fields as shown in the previous examples. The result shows the mean and variance of the values of the field named bytes in rows organized by the http status values of the events.



Splunk

splunk>enterprise	/*	6 /-	💿 Messa	iges 🔹 🖇	Setting	s • Activi	ity ▼ He
Search Datasets	Reports Alerts	Dashboards					>
New Search				Save As	•	New Table	Close '
host="web_application	ion" stats mean(bytes	s) var(bytes) by	status			All time 🕶	Q
✓ 131,645 events (before)	re 11/19/18 9:14:30.000 PM)	No Event Samp	ling 🕶				
			Job 🕶 🛛 🕅	II + +	ð	± 1	Smart Mc
Events Patterns	Statistics (9) Visual	ization					
50 Per Page • 🖌 F	Format Preview •						
status 🌣 🖌		mean(bytes) 🌣 🖌				var(bytes) ‡	1
200	2	2191 <mark>.187422765344</mark>			530	4807.3725290	001
400	21	116.0206929740134			1179	9873.9942754	195
403	18	323.4197828709289			1462	459.24627483	817
404	20	070.8220153340635			119	8257.6652904	102
406	20	998.6553537284894			1217	765.08106649	36
408	1	2089.915982617093			1239	566.65187486	575
500	20	098.8101761252447			1183	659.07114456	906
503	1	2092.354336283186			1185	161.32659680)58
505	20	083.1005917159764			120	0765.8418353	327

